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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust
Balance Sheet (Unaudited)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Liabilities and Equity
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Redeemable common shares
Equity
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

September 30, 2023

1,000

1,000

1,000

1,000




Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust
Statement of Operations (Unaudited)

For the Period from
July 14, 2023 (date of
initial capitalization)
through September
30,2023

Revenue
Total revenue $ -

Expenses
Total expenses —

Net income (loss) $ _

Net income (loss) per redeemable common share, basic and diluted $ —
Weighted average redeemable common shares outstanding, basic and diluted 50

See accompanying notes to the financial statements



Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust
Statement of Changes in Redeemable Common Shares and Equity (Unaudited)

Redeemable Common Shares

Shares Amount Total Equity
Balance at July 14, 2023 (date of initial capitalization) — § — S —
Redeemable common shares issued 50 1,000 —
Balance at September 30, 2023 50 3 1,000 $ —

See accompanying notes to the financial statements



Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust
Statement of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

For the Period from
July 14, 2023 (date
of initial capitalization)

through
September 30, 2023

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities $ —
Cash flows from investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities —
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from the issuance of redeemable common shares 1,000

Net cash provided by financing activities $ 1,000
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,000
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period —
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 1,000

See accompanying notes to the financial statements



Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust
Notes to Financial Statements (Unaudited)

1. Organization and Business Purpose

Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust (the “Company”) was formed on June 28, 2023 as a Maryland statutory trust and intends to
qualify as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Company was organized to originate,
acquire, finance and manage a portfolio of primarily commercial real estate (“CRE”) debt investments, focused on senior secured,
floating-rate CRE loans diversified across both geography and asset class. The Company’s CRE loans are expected to be primarily
secured by properties located in the U.S., Europe and Australia markets and include multifamily, industrial and select other CRE asset
classes, such as student housing, self-storage, life science and data center assets. To a lesser extent, the Company also may invest in
(1) other real asset lending strategies, including infrastructure loans and (2) other real estate-related debt and equity securities,
including commercial mortgage-backed securities and collateralized loan obligations. The Company expects to be externally managed
by Starwood Credit Advisors, L.L.C. (the “Advisor”), an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Starwood Capital Group Holdings L.P.
(together with any entity that is controlled by, controls or is under common control with Starwood Capital Group Holdings L.P.,
“Starwood Capital” or the “Sponsor”). On July 14, 2023 (date of initial capitalization), the Company was capitalized with a $1,000
investment by Starwood Real Estate Income Holdings, L.P., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Sponsor. Because the Sponsor has the
ability to cause the Company to repurchase the shares issued for this investment, the Company has classified these common shares as
mezzanine equity on the Company’s Balance Sheet.

As of September 30, 2023, the Company had neither purchased nor contracted to purchase any investments.

2. Capitalization

As of July 14, 2023, the Company was authorized to issue an unlimited number of shares classified as common shares of beneficial
interest, par value $0.01 per share (“common shares”), and an unlimited number of shares classified as preferred shares of beneficial
interest, par value $0.01 per share. The Company intends to undertake a continuous, blind pool private offering, pursuant to which it
will offer and sell its common shares to a limited number of accredited investors (as defined in Regulation D under the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended), including common shares classified as Class T shares, common shares classified as Class S shares, common
shares classified as Class D shares, common shares classified as Class I shares, and common shares classified as Class E shares, (the
“continuous private offering”). The share classes have different upfront selling commissions and ongoing sharcholder servicing fees.
The initial per share purchase price for the Company’s common shares in the continuous private offering will be $20.00 per share plus
applicable upfront selling commissions and dealer manager fees. Thereafter, the purchase price per share for each class of our
common shares will vary and will generally equal the Company’s prior month’s net asset value (“NAV”) per share, as calculated
monthly, plus applicable upfront selling commissions and dealer manager fees.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X.
Management believes it has made all necessary adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring items, so that the financial
statements are presented fairly. The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the balance sheet. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash held in banks, cash on hand, and liquid investments with original maturities of three months
or less. The Company’s cash at September 30, 2023 consists of demand deposits. Cash is carried at cost which approximates fair
value. The Company may have bank balances in the future that are in excess of federally insured amounts; however, the Company
deposits its cash and cash equivalents with high credit-quality institutions to minimize credit risk exposure.

Fair Value Option

The Company has elected the fair value option for certain eligible financial assets and liabilities including CRE loans, infrastructure
loans, real estate securities and liabilities associated with borrowing facilities. The fair value elections were made to create a more
direct alignment between the Company’s financial reporting and the calculation of net asset value per share used to determine the
prices at which investors can purchase and redeem shares of the Company’s common stock.

The decision to elect the fair value option is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis and must be applied to an entire
instrument and is irrevocable once elected. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value pursuant to this guidance are required to be
reported separately on the Company’s balance sheet from those instruments using another accounting method.



The Company’s fair value option elections will be made in accordance with the guidance in Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) 825, Financial Instruments (“ASC 825”) that allows entities to make an irrevocable election of fair value as the initial and
subsequent measurement attribute for certain eligible financial assets and liabilities. In the cases of loans and securities investments
for which the fair value option is elected, loan origination fees and costs related to the origination or acquisition of the instrument
should be immediately recognized in earnings. Unrealized gains and losses on assets and liabilities for which the fair value option has
been elected are also reported in earnings without deferral. This is because under the fair value option, a lender reports the instrument
at its exit price (i.e., the price that would be received to sell the instrument in an orderly transaction), which reflects the market’s
assessment of the instrument’s cash flows and risks and does not include any entity-specific costs or fees.

Organization and Offering Expenses

The Advisor has agreed to advance organization and offering expenses on behalf of the Company (including legal, accounting, and
other expenses attributable to the organization, but excluding upfront selling commissions, dealer manager fees and shareholder
servicing fees) through the first anniversary of the date of the initial closing of the continuous private offering. The Company will
reimburse the Advisor for all such advanced expenses ratably over a 60-month period following the first anniversary of the initial
closing of the continuous private offering.

As of September 30, 2023, the Advisor and its affiliates have incurred total organization and offering expenses on the Company’s
behalf of approximately $2.0 million, composed of $0.3 million in organization costs and $1.7 million in offering costs. Organization
costs are related to the legal and administrative aspects of forming the Company including costs incurred in drafting the Company’s
governing documents, establishing the Company as a legal entity, and hiring service providers. Organization costs are generally
expensed as incurred. Offering costs are related to the marketing and selling of the Company’s common shares including costs
incurred in the preparation of the offering memorandum. These organization and offering expenses are not recorded in the
accompanying financial statements because such costs are not the Company’s liability until the date of the initial closing of the
continuous private offering. When recorded by the Company, organization expenses will be expensed as incurred, and offering
expenses will be charged to shareholders’ equity. Any amount due to the Advisor but not paid will be recognized as a liability on the
balance sheet.

Operating Expenses

The Advisor has agreed to advance certain of the Company’s operating expenses and costs through the initial closing of the
continuous private offering. The Company will reimburse the Advisor for such advanced expenses ratably over the 60 months
following the first anniversary of the initial closing of our continuous private offering. Operating expenses incurred after the first
anniversary of the initial closing of our continuous private offering will be paid by the Company as incurred. As of September 30,
2023, $0.1 million in general and administrative expenses were incurred. These operating expenses are not recorded in the
accompanying financial statements because such costs are not the Company’s liability until the date of the initial closing of the
continuous private offering. When recorded by the Company, operating expenses will be expensed as incurred. Any amount due to
the Advisor but not paid will be recognized as a liability on the balance sheet.

Income Taxes

The Company intends to make an election to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, commencing with its taxable year ending December 31, 2023. If the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, the
Company generally will not be subject to federal corporate income tax to the extent it distributes 90% of its taxable income to its
shareholders. REITs are subject to a number of other organizational and operational requirements. Even if the Company qualifies for
taxation as a REIT, it may be subject to certain state and local taxes on its income and property, and federal income and excise taxes
on its undistributed income.

4. Related Party Transactions

The Company intends to enter into an advisory agreement (the “Advisory Agreement”) with the Advisor. Pursuant to the Advisory
Agreement between the Company and the Advisor, the Advisor will be responsible for sourcing, evaluating and monitoring the
Company’s investment opportunities and making decisions related to the acquisition, origination, management, financing and
disposition of the Company’s assets, in accordance with the Company’s investment objectives, guidelines, policies and limitations,
subject to oversight by the Company’s board of trustees.

Certain affiliates of the Company, including the Advisor, will receive fees and compensation in connection with the continuous
private offering and ongoing management of the assets of the Company. The Advisor will be paid a management fee (the
“Management Fee”) equal to 1.25% of NAV per annum for the outstanding Class T shares, Class S shares, Class D shares, and Class I
shares, payable monthly in arrears. For the avoidance of doubt, the Company will not pay the Advisor the Management Fee with
respect to the Class E shares, and as a result, it is a class-specific expense. The Management Fee will be paid, at the Advisor’s
election, in cash, Class I shares or Class E shares, or any combination thereof. The Advisor intends to waive its Management Fee for
the first 3 months following the initial closing of the continuous private offering.



In addition, the Advisor may be entitled to receive a performance fee (the “Performance Fee) which will be accrued monthly and
payable quarterly in arrears. The Performance Fee will be an amount, not less than zero, equal to (i) 12.5% of the cumulative Core
Earnings (as defined in the Advisory Agreement) for the immediately preceding four calendar quarters (each such period, a “4-
Quarter Performance Measurement Period”), subject to a hurdle rate, expressed as a rate of return on average adjusted capital, equal to
5.0% (the “Annual Hurdle Rate”), minus (ii) the sum of any Performance Fees paid to the Advisor with respect to the first three
calendar quarters in the applicable 4-Quarter Performance Measurement Period. The Advisor will not earn a Performance Fee for any
calendar quarter until our Core Earnings for the applicable 4-Quarter Performance Measurement Period exceeds the Annual Hurdle
Rate. Once Core Earnings in any 4-Quarter Performance Measurement Period exceeds the Annual Hurdle Rate, the Advisor will be
entitled to a “catch-up” fee equal to the amount of Core Earnings in excess of the Annual Hurdle Rate, until Core Earnings for such
the applicable 4-Quarter Performance Measurement Period exceeds a percentage of average adjusted capital equal to the Annual
Hurdle Rate divided by 0.875 (or 1 minus 0.125) for the applicable the applicable 4-Quarter Performance Measurement Period.
Thereafter, the Advisor will be entitled to receive 12.5% of the Core Earnings. Proportional calculation methodologies to be applied
prior to the completion of four full calendar quarters are defined in the Advisory Agreement. The Performance Fee may be paid, at the
Advisor’s election, in cash, Class I shares or Class E shares, or any combination thereof.

The Company may retain certain of the Advisor’s affiliates, from time to time, for services relating to the Company’s investments or
its operations, which may include capital markets services, restructuring services, valuation services, underwriting and diligence
services, and special servicing, as well as services related to mortgage servicing, group purchasing, healthcare, consulting/brokerage,
capital markets/credit origination, loan servicing and asset management, property, title and other types of insurance, management
consulting and other similar operational and investment matters. As of November 14, 2023, the Company has not retained an affiliate
of the Advisor for any such services.

5. Economic Dependency

The Company will be dependent on the Advisor and its affiliates for certain services that are essential to it, including the sale of the
Company’s common shares, origination, acquisition and disposition decisions, and certain other responsibilities. In the event that the
Advisor and its affiliates are unable to provide such services, the Company would be required to find alternative service providers.

6. Share Repurchase Plan

The Company expects to commence a share repurchase plan in the first full calendar quarter following the initial closing of the
continuous private offering. Pursuant to the share repurchase plan, shareholders may request on a quarterly basis that the Company
repurchase all or any portion of their shares. The Company is not obligated to repurchase any shares and may choose to repurchase
only some, or even none, of the shares that have been requested to be repurchased in any particular quarter in its discretion.
Repurchases will be made at the transaction price in effect on the repurchase date, except that shares that have not been outstanding
for at least one year will be repurchased at 95% of the transaction price (an “Early Repurchase Deduction”). The one-year holding
period is measured from the first business day of the month the shares were issued to the subscription closing date immediately
following the prospective repurchase date. The Early Repurchase Deduction will not apply to shares acquired through our distribution
reinvestment plan.

The aggregate NAV of total repurchases of Class T shares, Class S shares, Class D shares, Class E shares and Class I shares
(including repurchases at certain non-U.S. investor access funds primarily created to hold our shares) under the share repurchase plan
will be limited to no more than 5% of the aggregate NAV per calendar quarter (measured using the aggregate NAV as of the end of
the immediately preceding month). Shares issued to the Advisor pursuant to the Advisory Agreement will not be subject to these
repurchase limitations.

In the event that the Company determines to repurchase some but not all of the shares submitted for repurchase during any calendar
quarter under the share repurchase plan, shares repurchased at the end of the calendar quarter will be repurchased on a pro rata basis.
All unsatisfied repurchase requests must be resubmitted after the start of the next calendar quarter, or upon the recommencement of
the share repurchase plan, as applicable.

The board of trustees designated the following persons as “Key Persons” under the share repurchase plan: Barry Sternlicht, Jeffrey
Dishner, Ellis Rinaldi, Dennis Schuh and any individual that replaces such persons. The share repurchase plan provides that if two or
more such Key Persons are no longer actively involved in the business and activities of Starwood Capital, or are otherwise unable or
unwilling to exercise the authority and discharge those day-to-day management responsibilities with respect to Starwood Capital as
are currently exercised and discharged by such Key Person(s) (such inactivity, inability or unwillingness, “Inactivity”), and Starwood
Capital has not appointed one or more replacements who will fulfill substantially all of the duties of one of such Key Persons within
90 days from the date such Inactivity began (meaning, for the sake of clarity, that one Key Person’s responsibilities may remain
unfilled for longer than 90 days) (a “Key Person Triggering Event”), then the Early Repurchase Deduction is waived with respect to
shares that have been purchased in the 12 months preceding the expiration of five business days after the disclosure by the Company
of the occurrence of such Key Person Triggering Event (“Disclosure Date”) as set forth herein. If the Disclosure Date is (x) at least
one (1) business day prior to the date upon which the transaction price is made available during a quarter-ending month, the Early
Repurchase Deduction shall be waived through the first repurchase date or (y) on or following the date upon which the transaction
price is made available during a quarter-ending month, the Early Repurchase Deduction shall be waived through the next two (2)
repurchase dates. The waiver of the Early Repurchase Deduction set forth in this paragraph will not apply to shares acquired through
our distribution reinvestment plan.



Under the share repurchase plan, our board of trustees may amend, suspend or terminate the share repurchase plan at any time if it
deems such action to be in our best interest. As a result, share repurchases may not be available each quarter. We may fund repurchase
requests from sources other than cash flow from operations, including, without limitation, the sale of or repayment under our assets,
borrowings or offering proceeds, and we have no limits on the amounts we may pay from such sources. Should repurchase requests,
in the Company’s judgment, place an undue burden on our liquidity, adversely affect our operations or risk having an adverse impact
on the Company as a whole, or should we otherwise determine that investing our liquid assets in real estate or other investments rather
than repurchasing our shares is in the best interests of the Company as a whole, then the Company may choose to repurchase fewer
shares than have been requested to be repurchased, or none at all. Further, the board of trustees may make exceptions to, modify or
suspend the share repurchase plan if it deems in its reasonable judgment such action to be in the Company’s best interest.

7. Commitments and Contingencies

As of September 30, 2023, the Company is not subject to any material litigation nor is the Company aware of any material litigation
threatened against it.

8. Subsequent Events

On October 31, 2023, we commenced the continuous, blind pool private offering of an unlimited number of our common shares. Also
on October 31, 2023, the Company entered into a dealer manager agreement with Starwood Capital, L.L.C. (“Starwood Dealer’) an
affiliate of the Advisor, pursuant to which Starwood Dealer will serve as the dealer manager of the Company’s continuous private
offering. The Company intends to use the net proceeds primarily to make investments in commercial real estate debt and real estate-
related securities. We intend to sell our common shares in the continuous private offering on a monthly basis.

On November 13, 2023, the Company entered into a subscription agreement (the “Starwood Subscription Agreement”), by and
between the Company and Starwood Capital, pursuant to which Starwood Capital has agreed, from time to time, to purchase from the
Company an aggregate amount of not less than $150 million in Class E shares, at a price per share equal to the Company’s most
recently determined NAV of its Class E shares, or if an NAV has yet to be calculated, then $20.00 (the “Initial Capitalization™).
Starwood Capital has agreed to hold all of the Class E shares it receives in connection with the Initial Capitalization until, (i) with
respect to the Class E shares issued in respect of the initial $125 million of its commitment, the date that is the earlier of (a) the first
date that the Company’s NAV reaches $1 billion and (b) the second anniversary of the initial closing of the Company’s continuous
private offering, (ii) with respect to the Class E shares issued in respect of Starwood Capital’s commitment in excess of $125 million,
but not greater than $150 million, the date that is the second anniversary of the initial closing of the Company’s continuous private
offering and (iii) with respect to any remaining Class E shares (representing purchases exceeding $150 million), at any time following
the initial closing of the Company’s continuous private offering (such dates referred to in (i) — (iii), collectively, the “Applicable
Liquidity Date”). Following the Applicable Liquidity Date, Starwood Capital may, from time to time, request to have such Class E
shares repurchased by the Company at a price per share equal to the most recently determined NAV per Class E share as of the
repurchase date (each, a “Starwood Repurchase”). The Class E shares issued in the Initial Capitalization are not eligible for
repurchase pursuant to the Company’s share repurchase plan and are not therefore subject to the quarterly limitation or the Early
Repurchase Deduction.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, for so long as Starwood Capital or its affiliate acts as the Advisor, the Company will not effect any
Starwood Repurchase in any quarter that the full amount of all common shares requested to be repurchased by shareholders other than
Starwood Capital and its affiliates under the share repurchase plan are not repurchased or the share repurchase plan has been
suspended.

Effective as of November 10, 2023, the board of trustees adopted a share repurchase plan (the “Share Repurchase Plan”), pursuant to
which shareholders may request on a quarterly basis that the Company repurchase all or any portion of their common shares, subject
to certain limitations as set forth therein. The aggregate NAV of total repurchases of Class T shares, Class S shares, Class D shares,
Class E shares and Class I shares (including repurchases at certain non-U.S. investor access funds primarily created to hold the
Company’s shares) under its share repurchase plan is limited to no more than 5% of the Company’s aggregate NAV per calendar
quarter (measured using the aggregate NAV as of the end of the immediately preceding month). In addition, effective as of
November 10, 2023, the board of trustees adopted a distribution reinvestment plan (the “DRP”), whereby shareholders will have their
cash distributions automatically reinvested in additional common shares unless they elect to receive their distributions in cash. The
foregoing description of each of the DRP does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the DRP, a
copy of which is included as Exhibit 4.1 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

P 6

References herein to “Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” refer to Starwood Credit
Real Estate Income Trust and its subsidiaries unless the context specifically requires otherwise.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (“Form 10-Q”). In addition to historical data, this discussion contains forward-looking statements
about our business, operations and financial performance based on current expectations that involve risks, uncertainties and
assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from those in this discussion as a result of various factors, including but not
limited to those discussed under Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in our Registration Statement on Form 10, as amended (the “Registration
Statement”) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

Forward-Looking Statements

Some of the statements in this Form 10-Q constitute forward-looking statements because they relate to future events or our future
performance or financial condition. The forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-Q may include statements as to:

e our future operating results;

e our business prospects and the prospects of the assets in which we may invest;

e the impact of the investments that we expect to make;

e our ability to raise sufficient capital to execute our investment and lending strategies;

e our ability to source adequate investment and lending opportunities to efficiently deploy capital;
e our current and expected financing arrangements;

o the effect of global and national economic and market conditions generally upon our operating results, including, but not
limited to, changes with respect to inflation, interest rate changes and supply chain disruptions, and changes in government
rules, regulations and fiscal policies;

o the adequacy of our cash resources, financing sources and working capital;

o the timing and amount of cash flows, distributions and dividends, if any, from our investments;

e our contractual arrangements and relationships with third parties;

e actual and potential conflicts of interest with the Advisor or any of its affiliates;

e the dependence of our future success on the general economy and its effect on the assets in which we may invest;
e our use of financial leverage;

e the ability of the Advisor to locate suitable investments for us and to monitor and administer our investments;

o the ability of the Advisor or its affiliates to attract and retain highly talented professionals;

e our ability to structure investments in a tax-efficient manner and the effect of changes to tax legislation and our tax
position; and

o the tax status of the assets in which we may invest.

29 <

In addition, words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “expect” and “intend” indicate a forward-looking statement, although not all
forward-looking statements include these words. The forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-Q involve risks and
uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those implied or expressed in the forward-looking statements for any
reason, including the factors set forth in “I/tem 1A4. Risk Factors” section of Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to our Registration
Statement filed with the SEC, and elsewhere in this Form 10-Q. Other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially
include:

e changes in the economy, particularly those affecting the real estate industry;

o risks associated with possible disruption in our operations or the economy generally due to terrorism, natural disasters,
epidemics or other events having a broad impact on the economy;

e adverse conditions in the areas where our investments or the properties underlying such investments are located and local
real estate conditions;

e our portfolio may be concentrated in certain industries and geographies, and, as a consequence, our aggregate return may
be substantially affected by adverse economic or business conditions affecting that particular type of asset or geography;
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o limitations on our business and our ability to satisfy requirements to maintain our exclusion from registration under the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”), or to maintain our qualification as a
REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes;

e since there is no public trading market for our common shares, repurchase of common shares by us will likely be the only
way to dispose of your shares. Our share repurchase plan provides shareholders with the opportunity to request that we
repurchase their shares on a quarterly basis, but we are not obligated to repurchase any shares and may choose to
repurchase only some, or even none, of the shares that have been requested to be repurchased in any particular quarter in
our discretion. In addition, repurchases will be subject to available liquidity and other significant restrictions. Further, our
board of trustees may make exceptions to, modify and suspend our share repurchase plan if, in its reasonable judgement, it
deems such action to be in our best interest. As a result, our common shares should be considered as having only limited
liquidity and at times may be illiquid;

e distributions are not guaranteed and may be funded from sources other than cash flow from operations, including, without
limitation, borrowings, offering proceeds, the sale of our assets, and repayments of our real estate debt investments, and we
have no limits on the amounts we may fund from such sources;

e the purchase and repurchase prices for our common shares are generally based on our prior month’s NAV and are not
based on any public trading market; and

o future changes in laws or regulations and conditions in our operating areas.

Although we believe the assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements, are reasonable, any of the assumptions could be
inaccurate, and, as a result, the forward-looking statements based on those assumptions also could be inaccurate. In light of the these
and other uncertainties, the inclusion of a projection or forward-looking statement in this Form 10-Q should not be regarded as a
representation by us that our plans and objectives will be achieved. These forward-looking statements apply only as of the date of this
Form 10-Q. Moreover, we assume no duty and do not undertake to update the forward-looking statements.

Overview

We are a Maryland statutory trust formed on June 28, 2023. We expect to be externally managed by our investment advisor, Starwood
Credit Advisors, L.L.C., (the “Advisor”), an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Starwood Capital Group Holdings L.P. (together
with any entity that is controlled by, controls or is under common control with Starwood Capital Group Holdings L.P., “Starwood
Capital” or the “Sponsor”). Starwood Capital is a private investment firm with a primary focus on global real estate. Since its
inception in 1991, Starwood Capital has raised over $75 billion of capital and currently has over $115 billion of assets under
management.

Our investment objectives are to invest primarily in debt on high quality assets that will enable us to:
e provide current income in the form of regular, stable cash distributions to achieve an attractive distribution yield,

e preserve and protect invested capital, by focusing on high quality real assets with current cash-flow and/or limited business
plan risk;

e reduce downside risk through conservative loan-to-value ratios against high quality real assets with meaningful borrower
equity or implied equity; and

e provide an investment alternative for shareholders seeking to allocate a portion of their long-term investment portfolios to
commercial real estate (“CRE”) debt with lower volatility than publicly traded securities and compelling risk-adjusted
returns compared to fixed income alternatives.

We may not achieve our investment objectives. See Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in our Registration Statement on Form 10, as amended,
filed with the SEC.

Our investment strategy will be focused on originating, acquiring, financing and managing a portfolio of primarily commercial real
estate (“CRE”) debt investments, typically in the form of senior secured, floating-rate CRE loans diversified across both geography
and asset class. Our CRE loans are expected to be primarily secured by properties in the U.S., European and Australian markets and
include multifamily, industrial and select other CRE asset classes, such as student housing, self-storage, life science and data center
assets. To a lesser extent, we may invest in (1) other real asset lending strategies, including infrastructure loans, and (2) other real-
estate related debt and equity securities, including commercial mortgage-backed securities (“CMBS”) and collateralized loan
obligations (“CLOs”).

Our board of trustees at all times will have ultimate oversight and policy-making authority over us, including responsibility for
governance, financial controls, compliance and disclosure. Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement (as defined below), we will delegate
to the Advisor the authority to source, evaluate and monitor our investment opportunities and make decisions related to the
acquisition, management, financing and disposition of our assets, in accordance with our investment objectives, guidelines, policies
and limitations, subject to oversight by our board of trustees.
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We will be structured as a non-listed, perpetual-life REIT, and therefore our securities are not listed on a national securities exchange
and, as of the date of this Form 10-Q, there is no plan to list our securities on a national securities exchange. We are organized as a
holding company and conduct our business primarily through our various subsidiaries. We intend to elect and qualify to be taxed as a
REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, for U.S. federal income tax purposes and generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income
taxes on our taxable income to the extent we annually distribute all of our REIT taxable income to shareholders and maintain our
qualification as a REIT.

We will be conducting a blind pool continuous private offering of our common shares in reliance on an exemption from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), to investors that are (i) accredited investors
(as defined in Regulation D under the Securities Act) and (ii) in the case of common shares sold outside the United States, to persons
that are not “U.S. persons” (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act).

On October 31, 2023, we commenced a continuous private offering of an unlimited number of our common shares of beneficial
interest. The Company intends to use the net proceeds primarily to make investments in commercial real estate debt and real estate-
related securities. We intend to sell our common shares in our continuous private offering on a monthly basis.

We are not aware of any material trends or uncertainties, favorable or unfavorable, other than national economic conditions affecting
real estate generally, that may be reasonably anticipated to have a material impact on either capital resources or the revenues or
income to be derived from our real estate debt investments or real estate-related securities, other than those referred to in this Form

10-Q.

Key Components of Our Results from Operations
Revenues

We were capitalized through the purchase by Starwood Real Estate Income Holdings, L.P., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Sponsor, of 50 common shares for an aggregate purchase price of $1,000 on July 14, 2023. As of November 14, 2023, we have not
engaged in principal operations nor generated any revenues. Our entire activity since inception to November 14, 2023, was our initial
capitalization and preparation for our proposed fundraising through our continuous private offering.

As of November 14, 2023, we had neither originated nor acquired any investments that will be funded with the net proceeds from our
continuous private offering. The number and type of investments that we originate or acquire will depend upon market conditions, the
amount of proceeds we raise in our continuous private offering and other circumstances existing at the time of our operations and
investment activities.

We will seek to focus on senior secured floating rate investments, secured by high quality real assets to generate current cash flow.
We seek to identify attractive risk-reward investments by financing high quality real assets with substantial borrower equity and plan
to partner with well-known sponsors with real assets in primarily gateway and select secondary markets. We expect to create
synergies with Starwood Capital’s existing debt capabilities by leveraging its significant scale and existing relationships to source
high quality lending opportunities. Our revenues will primarily comprise interest income generated by investments in loans and by
securities backed by loans in addition to loan origination fees and gains on sales of loans and securities investments.

Expenses

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement between the Company and the Advisor (the “Advisory Agreement”), the Advisor will be
responsible for sourcing, evaluating and monitoring the Company’s investment opportunities and making decisions related to the
acquisition, origination, management, financing and disposition of the Company’s assets, in accordance with the Company’s
investment objectives, guidelines, policies and limitations, subject to oversight by the Company’s board of trustees. As discussed in
Note 4 “Related Party Transactions” to the Company’s unaudited financial statements as of and for the period ending September 30,
2023, certain affiliates of the Company, including the Advisor, will receive fees and compensation in connection with the offering and
ongoing management of the assets of the Company.

Pursuant to the terms of the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor will be responsible for, among other things:
e managing the Company’s assets in accordance with its investment objective, policies and restrictions;

e determining the composition of the Company’s portfolio, the nature and timing of the changes to the Company’s portfolios
and the manner of implementing such changes;

e making investment decisions for the Company and monitoring the Company’s investments;

e engaging and supervising, on the Company’s behalf, agents and service providers to assist in making and managing the
Company’s investments;

e determining valuations of the Company’s assets;
e performing due diligence on prospective portfolio investments;

o recommending the appropriate level of leverage and debt financing;
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e  exercising voting rights in respect of portfolio securities and other investments for the Company; and

e providing the Company with such other investment advisory and related services as the Company may, from time to time,
reasonably require for the investment of capital.

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor may delegate any of the services for which it is responsible for to a third-party
service provider. In the event the Advisor chooses to engage a third-party service provider, the Advisor will remain responsible for the
performance of such services and the Company generally will pay fees to the third-party service providers for such services.

Management Fee

As compensation for its services provided pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor will be paid a management fee (the
“Management Fee”) equal to 1.25% of NAV per annum for the outstanding Class T shares, Class S shares, Class D shares, and Class |
shares, payable monthly in arrears. For the avoidance of doubt, we will not pay the Advisor the Management Fee with respect to the
Class E shares, and as a result, it is a class-specific expense. In calculating the Management Fee, we will use our NAV before giving
effect to accruals for the Management Fee, Performance Fee, shareholder servicing fees or distributions payable on our common
shares. The Advisor has agreed to waive its Management Fee for the first 3 months following the initial closing of our continuous
private offering. The Management Fee may be paid, at the Advisor’s election, in cash, Class I shares or Class E shares, or any
combination thereof.

Performance Fee

The Advisor may be entitled to receive a performance fee (“the Performance Fee”) which is accrued monthly and payable quarterly in
arrears. The Performance Fee will be an amount, not less than zero, equal to (i) 12.5% of the cumulative Core Earnings (as defined in
the Advisory Agreement) for the immediately preceding four calendar quarters (each such period, a “4-Quarter Performance
Measurement Period”), subject to a hurdle rate, expressed as a rate of return on average adjusted capital, equal to 5.0% (the “Annual
Hurdle Rate”), minus (ii) the sum of any performance fees paid to the Advisor with respect to the first three calendar quarters in the
applicable 4-Quarter Performance Measurement Period. The Advisor will not earn a Performance Fee for any calendar quarter until
our Core Earnings for the applicable 4-Quarter Performance Measurement Period exceeds the Annual Hurdle Rate. Once Core
Earnings in any 4-Quarter Performance Measurement Period exceeds the Annual Hurdle Rate, the Advisor will be entitled to a “catch-
up” fee equal to the amount of Core Earnings in excess of the Annual Hurdle Rate, until Core Earnings for such the applicable 4-
Quarter Performance Measurement Period exceed a percentage of average adjusted capital equal to the Annual Hurdle Rate divided
by 0.875 (or 1 minus 0.125) for the applicable 4-Quarter Performance Measurement Period. Thereafter, the Advisor will be entitled to
receive 12.5% of the Core Earnings. Proportional calculation methodologies to be applied prior to the completion of four full
calendar quarters are defined in the Advisory Agreement. The Performance Fee may be paid, at the Advisor’s election, in cash, Class
I shares or Class E shares, or any combination thereof.

Organizational and Offering Expenses

The Advisor has agreed to advance all of the Company’s organization and offering expenses on its behalf (including legal,
accounting, printing, mailing, subscription processing and filing fees and expenses, reasonable bona fide due diligence expenses of
participating broker-dealers supported by detailed and itemized invoices, costs in connection with preparing sales materials, design
and website expenses, fees and expenses of our escrow agent and transfer agent, and expense reimbursements for actual costs incurred
by employees of Starwood Capital, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company (the “Dealer Manager”) in the performance of
wholesaling activities (but excluding upfront selling commissions, dealer manager fees and the shareholder servicing fee)) through the
first anniversary of the initial closing of our continuous private offering. The Company will reimburse the Advisor for all such
advanced expenses ratably over the 60 months following the first anniversary of the initial closing of our continuous private offering.
Wholesaling compensation expenses of persons associated with the Dealer Manager will be paid by the Advisor without
reimbursement from the Company. After the first anniversary of the initial closing of our continuous private offering, the Company
will reimburse the Advisor for any organization and offering expenses that it incurs on our behalf as and when incurred.

Acquisition Expenses

We will reimburse the Advisor for out-of-pocket expenses in connection with the selection, evaluation, structuring, acquisition,
origination and financing of investments, whether or not such investments are acquired or originated.

Operating Expenses (Including General and Administrative Expenses) Reimbursement

In addition to the organization and offering expense and acquisition expense reimbursements described above, the Advisor has agreed
to advance certain of the Company’s operating expenses on its behalf through the first anniversary of the initial closing of our
continuous private offering. In addition to the organization and offering expense and acquisition expenses described above, the
Advisor will advance certain out-of-pocket costs and expenses it incurs in connection with the services it provides to the Company,
including, but not limited to, (1) the actual cost of goods and services used by us and obtained from third parties, including fees paid
to administrators, consultants, attorneys, technology providers and other service providers, and brokerage fees paid in connection with
the purchase and sale of investments and securities, (2) expenses of managing and operating our investments, whether payable to an
affiliate or a non-affiliated person and (3) expenses related to personnel of the Advisor performing services for the Company other
than those who provide investment advisory services or serve as our executive officers.
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The Company will reimburse the Advisor for such advanced expenses ratably over the 60 months following the first anniversary of
the initial closing of our continuous private offering. Operating expenses incurred after the first anniversary of the initial closing of
our continuous private offering will be paid by the Company as incurred.

Fees from Other Services of the Advisor

The Company may retain certain of the Advisor’s affiliates, from time to time, for services relating to the Company’s investments or
its operations, which may include capital markets services, restructuring services, valuation services, underwriting and diligence
services, and special servicing, as well as services related to mortgage servicing, group purchasing, healthcare, consulting/ brokerage,
capital markets/credit origination, loan servicing and asset management, property, title and other types of insurance, management
consulting and other similar operational and investment matters. As of November 14, 2023, the Company has not retained an affiliate
of the Advisor for any such services.

Hedging

Hedging activities can be expected to result in the incurrence of hedging related expenses. In general, the Company will seek to
match the interest rate characteristics of our investments with the interest rate characteristics of any related financing obligations. In
instances where the interest rate characteristics of an investment and the related financing obligation are not matched, the Company
may mitigate such interest rate risk through the utilization of interest rate derivatives of the same duration.

Similarly, the Company’s loans and investments that are denominated in a foreign currency will also be subject to risks related to
fluctuations in exchange rates. The Company generally expects to mitigate this exposure by matching the currency of foreign
currency-denominated assets to the currency of the borrowings that finance those assets. As a result, the Company expects to
substantially reduce its exposure to changes in portfolio value related to changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

The Company intends to hedge its remaining net currency exposures in a prudent manner. In doing so, the Company generally expects
to structure our foreign currency hedges so that the notional values and expiration dates of hedge positions approximate the amounts
and timing of future payments expected to be received on the related investments. However, the currency hedging strategies employed
may not eliminate all of our currency risk due to, among other things, uncertainties in the timing and/or amounts of payments received
on the related investments, and/or unequal, inaccurate, or unavailable hedges to perfectly offset changes in future exchange rates.

Valuation of Portfolio Investments

As compensation for its services provided pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor will be paid a Management Fee equal to
1.25% of NAV per annum for the outstanding Class T shares, Class S shares, Class D shares, and Class I shares, payable monthly in
arrears. Our board of trustees, including a majority of our independent trustees, has adopted valuation guidelines that contain a
comprehensive set of methodologies to be used by the Advisor and our independent valuation advisor in connection with estimating
the values of our assets and liabilities for purposes of our NAV calculation. These guidelines are designed to produce a fair and
accurate estimate of the price that would be received for our investments in an arm’s-length transaction between a willing buyer and a
willing seller in possession of all material information about our investments. Periodically, our board of trustees, including a majority
of our independent trustees, will review the appropriateness of our valuation procedures. From time to time, our board of trustees,
including a majority of our independent trustees, may adopt changes to the valuation guidelines if it (1) determines that such changes
are likely to result in a more accurate reflection of NAV or a more efficient or less costly procedure for the determination of NAV
without having a material adverse effect on the accuracy of such determination or (2) otherwise reasonably believes a change is
appropriate for the determination of NAV.

The calculation of our NAV is intended to be a calculation of the fair value of our assets less our outstanding liabilities as described
below and likely differs from the book value of our equity reflected in our financial statements. To calculate our NAV for purposes of
establishing a purchase and repurchase price for our common shares, we have adopted a model that calculates the fair values of our
assets and liabilities in accordance with our valuation guidelines. Because these fair value calculations involve significant professional
judgment in the application of both observable and unobservable inputs, the calculated fair value of our assets may differ from their
actual realizable value or future fair value. While we believe our NAV calculation methodologies are consistent with standard
industry practices, there is no rule or regulation that requires we calculate NAV in a certain way. As a result, other REITs may use
different methodologies or assumptions to determine NAV. In addition, NAYV is not a measure used under GAAP and the valuations
of and certain adjustments made to our assets and liabilities used in the determination of NAV differ from GAAP. Shareholders
should not consider NAV to be equivalent to shareholder’s equity or any other GAAP measure.

The following valuation methods will be used for purposes of calculating our NAV:

CRE Loans and Other Real Asset Loans. The fair market value of our CRE loan and other real asset loan investments will be
determined by the Advisor on a monthly basis. Newly originated or acquired loan investments are initially valued at par in the
month that they are closed, which is expected to represent fair value at that time. For each month after the initial month in
which a loan investment is closed, the independent valuation advisor will review and confirm the reasonableness of the
Advisor’s valuations of each of our CRE loan and other real asset loan investments. Valuations of CRE and other real asset
loan investments reflect changes in interest rates, spreads, collateral value, loan tests (including loan impairment testing) and
metrics, risk ratings, and anticipated liquidation timing and proceeds, among other factors. The fair values will be determined
by discounting the future contractual cash flows to the present value using a current market interest rate or spread. The market
rate will be determined through consideration of the interest rates for debt of comparable quality and maturity, and, where
applicable, the value of the underlying real estate investment.
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Collateral - For CRE loan and other real asset loan investments, an appraisal will be completed by an independent appraisal
firm prior to the closing of each transaction. Appraised values of property collateral are based on comparable sales, occupancy,
leasing rates and expirations, discounted cash flows, and anticipated liquidation timing and proceeds, among other factors. The
Advisor may choose to obtain an updated third-party appraisal subsequent to the loan closing date if a material event occurs
and impacts the collateral.

Real Estate Owned Properties - In the event we pursue an ownership interest in the underlying collateral on a defaulted loan,
then the asset will become real estate owned (“REO”) property. REO properties will initially be valued at fair value (prepared
by an independent appraiser) less closing costs, at the time of acquisition. Thereafter, as of the end of each month, the Advisor
will determine the fair market value of each of the REO properties and the independent valuation adviser will review and
confirm the reasonableness of those valuations. Additionally, the REO properties may be valued by an independent appraiser
periodically, as determined by the Advisor. Property-level valuations reflect changes in property value based on comparable
sales, occupancy, leasing rates and expirations, discounted cash flows, and anticipated liquidation timing and proceeds, among
other factors.

Other Real Estate-Related Assets - Our investments in real estate-related assets will focus on non-distressed public and private
real estate-related debt securities, including, but not limited to, CMBS and CLOs. In general, real estate-related assets will be
valued by the Advisor according to the procedures specified below upon acquisition or issuance and then monthly. Interim
valuations of real estate-related assets that are valued monthly may be performed if the Advisor believes the value of the
applicable asset may have changed materially since the most recent valuation. In addition, our board of trustees may retain
additional independent valuation firms to assist with the valuation of real estate-related assets.

Publicly Traded Real Estate-Related Assets - Publicly traded real-estate related assets that are not restricted as to salability or
transferability will be generally valued by the Advisor monthly on the basis of publicly available market quotations or at fair
value determined in accordance with GAAP. Market quotations may be obtained from third-party pricing service providers or
broker-dealers. When reliable market quotations are available from multiple sources, the Advisor will apply commercially
reasonable efforts to use two or more quotations and will typically value the assets based on the average of the quotations
obtained. GAAP defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or be paid to transfer a liability (i.e., the
exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. If market quotations are not readily
available (or are otherwise not reliable for a particular investment), the fair value will be determined in good faith by the
Advisor. The Advisor may adjust the value of public debt and equity real estate-related assets and derivatives that are restricted
as to salability or transferability for a liquidity discount. In determining the amount of such discount, consideration will be
given to the nature and length of such restriction and the relative volatility of the market price of the security.

Private Real Estate-Related Assets - Investments in privately placed debt instruments and securities of real estate-related
operating businesses (other than joint ventures), such as real estate development or management companies, will be initially
valued by the Advisor at the acquisition price and thereafter are revalued monthly at fair value. Each month, the independent
valuation advisor will review and confirm the reasonableness of those valuations. The fair value of real-estate related operating
businesses will be generally determined by using valuation methodologies such as discounted cash flow and market comparable
analysis. The valuation analysis will be supplemented with a qualitative assessment of the businesses’ operating metrics and
industry outlook. In evaluating the fair value of our interests in certain commingled investment vehicles, values periodically
assigned to such interests by the respective issuers or broker-dealers may be relied upon.

Derivative Instruments - In the ordinary course of business, we may hedge interest rate and foreign currency exposure with
derivative financial instruments. We will report our derivative assets and liabilities at fair value based on price quotes from at
least one independent pricing service. The pricing service will value bilateral interest rate swaps and interest rate caps under the
income approach using valuation models. The significant inputs in these models are readily available in public markets or can
be derived from observable market transactions for substantially the full terms of the contracts. The pricing service will value
currency forward contracts under the market approach through the use of quoted market prices available in an active market.

Liquid Non-Real Estate-Related Assets - Liquid non-real estate-related assets include credit rated government debt securities,
corporate debt securities, cash and cash equivalents. Liquid non-real estate-related assets will be valued monthly by the Advisor
based on market quotations or at fair value determined in accordance with GAAP.

Liabilities - The fair market value of any of our future facilities will be determined by the Advisor on a monthly basis, which
will be used in calculating our NAV. New facilities will initially be valued at par, which is expected to represent fair value at
that time. Each month thereafter, the independent valuation advisor will review and confirm the reasonableness of the
valuations of each facility liability that will be used in calculating NAV. Any changes to the fair value of facilities are expected
to reflect changes including interest rates, spreads, and key loan metrics and tests utilizing the collateral value and cash flows,
including the estimated liquidation timing and proceeds.

The fair value of any financing liabilities will generally be measured using our valuation guidelines discussed above.
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Each report prepared by the independent valuation advisor is addressed solely to us. The independent valuation advisor’s
reports are not addressed to the public and may not be relied upon by any other person to establish value of the facilities that
will be used in calculating NAV.

Our board of trustees has delegated to the Advisor the responsibility for monitoring significant events that may materially affect the
values of our facilities for determining whether the existing valuations should be re-evaluated prior to the next scheduled monthly
valuation in light of such significant events. In addition to our debt obligations, our liabilities include the fees payable to the Advisor
and the Dealer Manager, accounts payable, accrued operating expenses, and other liabilities. Liabilities related to shareholder
servicing fees are allocable to Class T shares, Class S shares and Class D shares and will only be included in the NAV calculation for
those classes. Liabilities related to the Management Fee and Performance Fee are allocable to Class T shares, Class S shares, Class D
shares, and Class I shares and will be included in the NAV calculation for only those classes.

For purposes of calculating our NAV, neither (1) organization and offering expenses paid by the Advisor through the first anniversary
of the initial closing of our continuous private offering, nor (2) operating expenses paid by the Advisor, incurred by us during the
period through the first anniversary of the initial closing of our continuous private offering, will be recognized as expenses or as a
component of equity and reflected in our NAV until we reimburse the Advisor for these costs.

Portfolio and Investment Activity

As of September 30, 2023, the Company had not yet completed the initial closing of its continuous private offering and had no
portfolio investments.

Results of Operations

As of September 30, 2023, we were in our organizational period and had not commenced significant operations. We are dependent
upon the proceeds from the continuous private offering in order to conduct our investment activities. We intend to make investments
with the capital received from the continuous private offering and any indebtedness that we may incur in connection with our
investment activities.

Our Registration Statement on Form 10 became effective on October 2, 2023. As of September 30, 2023, we had neither purchased
nor contracted to purchase any investments.

Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of September 30, 2023, the Company was still in its organizational period and has not yet commenced principal operations or
generated any revenues. Principal operations are expected to commence when common shares are issued in the initial closing of our
continuous private offering.

Starwood Capital has agreed, from time to time, to purchase from the Company an aggregate amount of not less than $150 million in
Class E shares, at a price per share equal to the Company’s most recently determined NAV of its Class E shares, or if an NAV has yet
to be calculated, then $20.00. Further, Starwood Capital has agreed to hold all of the Class E shares it receives in connection with the
Initial Capitalization until, (i) with respect to the Class E shares issued in respect of the initial $125 million of its commitment, the
earlier of (a) the first date that our NAV reaches $1 billion and (b) the second anniversary of the initial closing of our continuous
private offering, (ii) with respect to the Class E shares issued in respect of Starwood Capital’s commitment in excess of $125 million,
but not greater than $150 million, at least the second anniversary of the initial closing of our continuous private offering and (iii) with
respect to any remaining Class E shares (representing purchases exceeding $150 million), at any time following the initial closing of
our continuous private offering. As of September 30, 2023, Starwood Capital and its subsidiaries have made an initial capital
contribution of $1,000 in cash, in exchange for 50 common shares. The Company may issue additional Class E shares to Starwood
Capital in connection with the Company’s acquisition of additional assets in the future.

We expect to generate cash primarily from (i) the net proceeds of our continuous private offering, (ii) cash flows from our operations,
(iii) any financing arrangements we may enter into in the future and (iv) any future offerings of equity and / or debt securities.

Our primary uses of cash will be for (i) origination or acquisition of commercial mortgage loans and other commercial debt
investments, CMBS and other commercial real estate-related debt investments, (ii) the cost of operations (including the Management
Fee and Performance Fee), (iii) debt service of any borrowings, (iv) periodic repurchases, including under our share repurchase plan
(as described herein), and (v) cash distributions to the holders of our shares to the extent declared by our board of trustees.

The Company will seek to enter into bank debt, credit facility, and / or other financing arrangements on at least customary and market
terms; however, such incurrence would be subject to prevailing market conditions, the Company’s liquidity requirements, contractual
and regulatory restrictions and other factors.

As of September 30, 2023, the Company had not commenced operations and had no outstanding borrowings.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with GAAP involves significant judgments and assumptions and requires
estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain. These judgments will affect our reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
our disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting periods. With different estimates or assumptions, materially different amounts could be reported in our
financial statements. We consider our accounting policies over investments in real estate and lease intangibles, investments in real
estate debt, and revenue recognition to be our critical accounting policies. Refer to Note 3 — “Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies” to our financial statements for further descriptions of such accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition

The guidance in ASC 825 provides a fair value option election that allows entities to make an irrevocable election of fair value as the
initial and subsequent measurement attribute for certain eligible financial assets and liabilities. In the cases of loans and securities
investments for which the fair value option is elected, loan origination fees and costs related to the origination or acquisition of the
instrument should be immediately recognized in earnings. Unrealized gains and losses on assets and liabilities for which the fair
value option has been elected are also reported in earnings without deferral. This is because under the fair value option, a lender
reports the instrument at its exit price (i.e., the price that would be received to sell the instrument in an orderly transaction), which
reflects the market’s assessment of the instrument’s cash flows and risks and does not include any entity-specific costs or fees.

As discussed in Note 3 — “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to our financial statements, the Company has elected the fair
value option for certain eligible financial assets and liabilities including CRE loans, infrastructure loans, real estate securities and
liabilities associated with borrowing facilities. The fair value elections were made to create a more direct alignment between the
Company’s financial reporting and the calculation of net asset value per share used to determine the prices at which investors can
purchase and redeem shares of the Company’s common stock.

The decision to elect the fair value option is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis and must be applied to an entire
instrument and is irrevocable once elected. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value pursuant to this guidance are required to be
reported separately on the Company’s balance sheet from those instruments using another accounting method.

Accrual of interest on non-performing loans is ceased at the earlier of (i) the loan becoming significantly past due or (ii) management
concluding that a full recovery of all interest and principal is doubtful. Interest income on non-accrual loans in which management
expects a full recovery of the loan’s outstanding principal balance is only recognized when received in cash. If a full recovery of
principal is doubtful, the cost recovery method is applied whereby any cash received is applied to the outstanding principal balance of
the loan. A non-accrual loan is returned to accrual status at such time as the loan becomes contractually current and management
believes all future principal and interest will be received according to the contractual loan terms.

For loans acquired with deteriorated credit quality, interest income is only recognized to the extent that the estimate of undiscounted
expected principal and interest exceeds the investment in the loan. Such excess, if any, is recognized as interest income on a level-
yield basis over the life of the loan.

Income Taxes

The Company intends to elect to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, for federal income tax purposes, beginning
with its taxable year ended December 31, 2023. As long as the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, it generally will not be
subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on its net taxable income that is currently distributed to its shareholders. A REIT is
subject to a number of organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement that it currently distributes at least 90%
of its REIT taxable income (subject to certain adjustments) to its shareholders. If the Company fails to qualify as a REIT in a taxable
year, without the benefit of certain relief provisions, it will be subject to federal and state income tax on its taxable income at regular
corporate tax rates. Even if the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, it may also be subject to certain federal, state, local and
foreign taxes on its income and assets, including (1) taxes on any undistributed income, (2) taxes related to its taxable REIT
subsidiaries (“TRSs”), and (3) certain state or local income taxes. The Company's tax returns for three years from the date filed are
subject to examination.

The Company intends to form wholly-owned subsidiaries to function as TRSs and will file TRS elections, together with such
subsidiaries, with the Internal Revenue Service. In general, a TRS may perform additional services for the Company’s tenants and
generally may engage in any real estate or non-real estate-related business other than management or operation of a lodging facility or
a health care facility. The TRSs will be subject to taxation at the federal, state, local and foreign levels, as applicable, at the regular
corporate tax rates. The Company accounts for applicable income taxes by utilizing the asset and liability method. As such, the
Company will record deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences resulting from the difference between the
carrying value of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. A valuation allowance for deferred tax assets will be
provided if the Company believes all or some portion of the deferred tax asset may not be realized.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The primary components of our market risk are expected to relate to interest rates, credit spreads, credit, market values, liquidity and
foreign currency exchange rates. While we do not seek to avoid risk completely, we believe that risk can be quantified from historical
experience, and we seek to actively manage that risk, to earn sufficient compensation to justify taking those risks and to maintain
capital levels consistent with the risks we undertake.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is highly sensitive to many factors, including governmental, monetary and tax policies, domestic and international
economic and political considerations, and other factors beyond our control. Our net interest income is expected to be exposed to
interest rate volatility primarily as a result of the floating rate nature of the investments we plan to hold and the financing we plan to
place on them. Additionally, we may use company-level facilities featuring floating interest rates for liquidity and working capital
purposes. Furthermore, we may make investments in fixed and floating rate debt securities and the value of our positions may
increase or decrease depending on interest rate movements. Finally, interest rate changes may impact the demand for loans and the
availability of financing needed to expand our investment portfolio.

A rise in the general level of interest rates can be expected to lead to higher debt service payment requirements relative to any variable
rate investments we hold and to declines in the value of any fixed rate investments we may hold. Rising interest rates carry default
risk to our borrowers, because cash flows from underlying properties may fall below the debt service payments due to us on the
investments, triggering borrower liquidity covenants. Therefore, we expect to protect property cash flows by requiring borrowers to
purchase interest rate caps, which provides a hedge against rising interest rates, whereby the borrower will receive excess cash if
interest rates exceed predetermined strike prices. Furthermore, rising interest rates also cause our overall cost of borrowing to
increase, partially or fully, offsetting any increase in elevated debt service payments received on our variable rate investments. In
general, we will seek to match the interest rate characteristics of our investments with the interest rate characteristics of any related
financing obligations. In instances where the interest rate characteristics of an investment and the related financing obligation are not
matched, we may mitigate such interest rate risk through the utilization of interest rate derivatives of the same duration. Given our
target leverage ratios, an increase in interest rates may result in an increase in our net investment income and the amount of the
Performance Fee payable to the Advisor.

A decline in interest rates can be expected to lead to lower debt service payments received from any variable rate investments we may
hold, decreases in the interest income earned on any floating rate investments we hold, and increases in the value of any fixed rate
investments we hold. To mitigate the impact of reduced earnings as a result of declining interest rates, we expect to structure interest
rate floors into each loan where the borrower will be required to pay minimum interest payments should interest rates fall below a
predetermined rate. Additionally, reduced interest rates also cause our overall cost of borrowings to decrease. Because our borrowings
do not typically feature interest rate floors, but our variable rate investments feature minimum interest payments due to us, declining
interest rates may result in an increase to the Company’s net interest income and an increase in the amount of the Performance Fee
payable to the Advisor.

Credit Spread Risk

Credit spread risk is the risk that interest rate spreads between two different financial instruments will change. In general, U.S. fixed-
rate commercial mortgage loans and CMBS are priced based on a spread to U.S. Treasury securities or interest rate swaps. We will
generally expect to benefit if credit spreads narrow during the time that we hold a portfolio of mortgage loans, CMBS and/or CLO
investments, and we may experience losses if credit spreads widen during the time that we hold a portfolio of mortgage loans, CMBS
and/or CLO investments. We will actively monitor our exposure to changes in credit spreads and we may enter into credit total return
swaps or take positions in other credit-related derivative instruments to moderate our exposure to losses associated with a widening of
credit spreads.

Credit Risk

We expect to be exposed to credit risk in our investments with respect to a borrower’s ability to make required debt service payments
to us and repay the unpaid principal balance in accordance with the terms of the loan agreement. We expect to manage this risk by
conducting a credit analysis prior to making an investment and by actively monitoring our portfolio and the underlying credit quality,
including subordination and diversification, of our investments on an ongoing basis. In addition, we intend to re-evaluate the credit
risk inherent in our investments on a regular basis taking into consideration a number of fundamental macro-economic factors such as
gross domestic product, unemployment, interest rates, capital markets activity, retail sales, store closing/openings, corporate earnings,
housing inventory, affordability and regional home price trends.

We expect to be exposed to credit risk with respect to the tenants that occupy properties that serve as collateral to our investments. To
mitigate this risk, we seek to avoid large single tenant exposure and we undertake a credit evaluation of major tenants prior to making
a loan. This analysis includes extensive due diligence of a potential tenant’s creditworthiness and business, as well as an assessment
of the strategic importance of the property to the tenant’s core business operations.

Finally, we may be exposed to counterparty credit risk under the terms of a derivative contract. If the fair value of a derivative
contract is positive, the counterparty will owe us, which creates credit risk for us. If the fair value of a derivative contract is negative,
we will owe the counterparty and, therefore, do not have credit risk. We may seek to mitigate the credit risk associated with derivative
instruments by entering into transactions with high-quality counterparties.
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Market Value Risks

We may also be exposed to market value risk with respect to the fair value of our investments, including debt securities, and
borrowings due to changes in market conditions, including credit spreads, interest rates, property cash flows, and commercial property
values that serve as collateral. We seek to manage our exposure to market risk by originating or acquiring investments secured by
different property types located in diverse, but liquid markets with stable credit ratings. The fair value of our investments may
fluctuate, therefore the amount we will realize upon any repayment, sale, or an alternative liquidation event is unknown.

Commercial property values are subject to volatility and may be adversely affected by a number of factors, including national,
regional and local economic conditions; local real estate conditions; changes or continued weakness in specific industry segments;
construction quality, age and design; demographic factors; and retroactive changes to building or similar codes and/or tax and legal
considerations. Changes in commercial property values are difficult to predict with accuracy. We model a range of valuation scenarios
and the resulting impacts on our investments.

Liquidity Risk

Market disruptions may lead to a significant decline in transaction activity in all or a significant portion of the asset classes in which
we intend to invest and may at the same time lead to a significant contraction in short-term and long-term debt and equity funding
sources. A decline in liquidity of real estate and real estate-related investments, as well as a lack of availability of observable
transaction data and inputs, may make it more difficult to sell our investments or determine their fair values. As a result, we may be
unable to sell investments, or only be able to sell investments at a price that may be materially different from the fair values presented.
Also, in such conditions, there is no guarantee that the Company’s borrowing arrangements or other arrangements for obtaining
leverage will continue to be available or, if available, will be available on terms and conditions acceptable to us. In addition, a decline
in market value of our assets may have particular adverse consequences in instances where we borrowed money based on the fair

value of our assets. A decrease in the market value of our assets may result in the lender requiring us to post additional collateral or
otherwise sell assets at a time when it may not be in our best interest to do so.

Foreign Currency Risk

Our loans and investments that are denominated in a foreign currency are also subject to risks related to fluctuations in exchange
rates. Over the term of our investments, we intend to mitigate this risk exposure by matching the currency of our foreign currency
assets to the currency of the borrowings that finance those assets. In addition, we expect to typically enter into a series of foreign
currency forward contracts to fix the U.S. dollar amount of foreign currency-denominated cash flows (interest income, principal
payments and net sales proceeds after the repayment of debt) we expect to receive from our foreign currency denominated
investments.

Although we expect to substantially reduce our exposure to changes in net investment income and portfolio value related to changes
in foreign exchange rates, our currency hedging strategies may not eliminate all of our currency risk due to, among other things,
uncertainties in the timing and/or amounts of payments received on the related investments, and/or unequal, inaccurate, or unavailable
hedges to perfectly offset changes in future exchange rates. Additionally, we may be required under certain circumstances to
collateralize our currency hedges for the benefit of the hedge counterparty, which could adversely affect our liquidity.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (as amended, the “Exchange Act”), as of the end of the period covered by this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q was made under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”). Based upon this evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures (a) are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or
submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC
rules and forms and (b) include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including
our CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Any controls and procedures, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurances of achieving the desired control objectives.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our “internal control over financial reporting” (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that
occurred during our most recent quarter to which this report relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. As of September
30, 2023, we were not involved in any material legal proceedings.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

For information regarding factors that could affect our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, see the risk factors
discussed in ltem 1A. Risk Factors in our Registration Statement on Form 10 filed with the SEC, as amended. As of September 30,
2023, there have been no material changes from the risk factors set forth in /tem 1A. Risk Factors in our Registration Statement on
Form 10.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES, USE OF PROCEEDS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

We were capitalized through the purchase by Starwood Real Estate Income Holdings, L.P., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Sponsor, of 50 common shares for an aggregate purchase price of $1,000 on July 14, 2023. These shares were issued and sold in
reliance upon the available exemption from registration pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

We intend to engage in a continuous private offering of our common shares to “accredited investors” (as defined in Regulation D
under the Securities Act) made pursuant to the exemptions provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Regulation D
thereunder and applicable state securities laws.

Share Repurchase Plan

On November 10, 2023, our board of trustees adopted a share repurchase plan, whereby shareholders may request on a quarterly basis
that we repurchase all or any portion of their shares. We may choose to repurchase all, some or none of the shares that have been
requested to be repurchased at the end of any particular calendar quarter, in our discretion, subject to any limitations in the share
repurchase plan.

Under our share repurchase plan, to the extent we choose to repurchase shares in any particular calendar quarter, we will only
repurchase shares following the close of business as of the last calendar day of that calendar quarter (each such date, a “Repurchase
Date”). Shares are repurchased at a price equal to the transaction price on the applicable Repurchase Date, except that shares that have
not been outstanding for at least one year will be repurchased at 95% of the transaction price (an “Early Repurchase Deduction”). The
Early Repurchase Deduction does not apply to shares acquired through our distribution reinvestment plan.

The aggregate NAV of total repurchases of Class T, Class S, Class D, Class I and Class E shares (including repurchases at certain
non-U.S. investor access funds primarily created to hold our shares and excluding any Early Repurchase Deduction) under our share
repurchase plan is limited to no more than 5% of the aggregate NAV per calendar quarter (measured using the aggregate NAV as of
the end of the immediately preceding month). Shares issued to the Advisor pursuant to the Advisory Agreement will not be subject to
these repurchase limitations.

In the event that we determine to repurchase some but not all of the shares submitted for repurchase during any calendar quarter under
our share repurchase plan, shares repurchased at the end of the calendar quarter will be repurchased on a pro rata basis. All unsatisfied
repurchase requests must be resubmitted after the start of the next calendar quarter, or upon the recommencement of the share
repurchase plan, as applicable.

Under our share repurchase plan, our board of trustees may amend, suspend or terminate our share repurchase plan at any time if it
deems such action to be in our best interest. As a result, share repurchases may not be available each calendar quarter. We may fund
repurchase requests from sources other than cash flow from operations, including, without limitation, the sale of or repayment under
our assets, borrowings or offering proceeds, and we have no limits on the amounts we may pay from such sources. Should repurchase
requests, in our judgment, place an undue burden on our liquidity, adversely affect our operations or risk having an adverse impact on
the Company as a whole, or should we otherwise determine that investing our liquid assets in real estate or other investments rather
than repurchasing our shares is in the best interests of the Company as a whole, then we may choose to repurchase fewer shares than
have been requested to be repurchased, or none at all. Further, our board of trustees may make exceptions to, modify or suspend our
share repurchase plan if it deems in its reasonable judgment such action to be in our best interest.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

None.
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ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.

Election of Trustees

On November 10, 2023, the sole trustee of the Company increased the size of the board of trustees to five members and elected each
of Dennis G. Schuh, Peggy Lamb, Jay N. Levine and Cyrus D. Walker to the board of trustees to fill the vacancies created by such
increase, in each case, effective November 10, 2023. The board of trustees has determined that each of Messrs. Levine and Walker
and Ms. Lamb is independent in accordance with the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines. The selection of Messrs. Levine
and Walker and Ms. Lamb to serve as a trustee was not pursuant to any arrangement or understanding with any other person. Mr.
Schuh is affiliated with Starwood Capital and was requested by Starwood Capital to serve on the board of trustees. Each trustee will
serve until his or her resignation, removal, death, disqualification, or adjudication of legal incompetence or the election and
qualification of his or her successor. There are no transactions between the Company and any of the trustees that would be required to
be reported under Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K.

Ms. Lamb and Mr. Levine will serve on the Audit Committee of the Board of trustee and Mr. Levine will serve as the Chairperson of
the Audit Committee. The board of trustees has determined that each of Ms. Lamb and Mr. Levine meet all applicable requirements to
serve on the Company’s Audit Committee, including the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Biographical information for each of the trustees elected is set forth below.

Dennis G. Schuh, 51, has served as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and President since its formation in June 2023 and as a
trustee since November 2023. Mr. Schuh has also served as the Chief Originations Officer of Starwood Property Trust since February
2016. In this role, Mr. Schuh is responsible for national originations, including senior debt, mezzanine and preferred equity
investments. Prior to joining Starwood Property Trust in 2016, Mr. Schuh was a Managing Director for J.P. Morgan from 1997 to
February 2016, where he held several roles as head of CMBS Banking/Origination and head of CMBS Capital Markets. Before
joining J.P. Morgan in 1997, Mr. Schuh worked at Fitch Ratings where he rated CMBS and REITs. He served on the Board of
Governors for the CRE Finance Council from 2006 to 2008 and on its Executive Committee from 2007 to 2008. Mr. Schuh graduated
from Georgetown University with a BS in Business Administration with a degree in Finance.

Peggy Lamb, 59, has served as an independent trustee since November 2023. Ms. Lamb has also served as a member of the board of
directors of Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. since January 2021. Since 2017, she has served as a Managing Director of
Halstatt, LLC, where she is a principal at Halstatt Real Estate Partners, a real estate investment fund. In her role, Ms. Lamb is
responsible for originating, structuring, underwriting, and closing real estate investments, as well as managing an existing diverse
investment portfolio across multiple asset types. Ms. Lamb worked at Goldman Sachs from 1990 to 2005 and served in a number of
management roles including as COO for Investment Banking Real Estate Department and Chief of Staff for the Financing Group. Ms.
Lamb received an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School and a B.S. from the University of Illinois.

Cyrus D. Walker, 55, has served as an independent trustee since November 2023. Since August 2023, Mr. Walker has served as a
Strategic Advisor for Fifth Down Capital, an investment firm that focuses on private companies in the global internet, software,
consumer and fintech industries, where he advises on strategic leveraging of networks to actively create and enhance opportunities
aligning with the firm's mission to invest in generational companies. Since February 2022, Mr. Walker has been a principal at
Discovery Land Company, a U.S.-based real estate developer and operator of private communities and resorts. In addition, Mr.
Walker has been an operating partner at Vistria Group, a private equity investment firm, and has served as a director for The Mather
Group, an investment advisory firm and affiliate of Vistria Group since January 2022. Mr. Walker has served as a director for Flores
& Associates LLC since August 2022, also a Vistria Group affiliated company. From April 2018 to March 2022, Mr. Walker served
as the founder and Chief Executive Officer of The Dibble Group, an insurance brokerage and consulting firm. From January 2000,
Mr. Walker served in several roles at Nemco Group, LLC, an insurance brokerage and consulting firm, including serving as its Co-
Chief Executive Officer until April 2012, when it was acquired by a subsidiary of NFP Corp., a multi-national insurance brokerage
and consulting business. Mr. Walker also founded and served as Chief Executive Officer of OSI Benefits, an insurance brokerage
consulting firm and division of Opportunity Systems, Inc., from 1995 to January 2000. Mr. Walker has served as a director of
Houlihan Lokey, Inc. since November 2020 and Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee since January 2021,
as a director of APi Group Corporation since October 2019 and Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of
APi Group Corporation since March 2021, and has served on the board of directors of privately held jewelry company, Kendra Scott,
LLC, since May 2021. Mr. Walker was previously a director of Arbor Rapha Capital Bioholdings Corp. I, a blank check company
from March 2021 to March 2023. Mr. Walker received a B.A. from Colorado College.

Jay N. Levine, 61, has served as an independent trustee since November 2023. Mr. Levine’s distinguished operating track record and
leadership experience within public and private financial services markets spans over 30 years. From December 2020 to May 2022,
Mr. Levine served as Chief Executive Officer of Cascade Acquisition Corp (NYSE: CAS), an incorporated blank check company for
the purpose of effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization or similar business
combination with one or more businesses. Between March 2011 and December 2020, Mr. Levine served as Chairman of the Board
(June 2018 — December 2020) and President and Chief Executive Officer (March 2011 — September 2018) of OneMain Financial
(NYSE: “OMF”, f.k.a. “Springleaf™), a provider of personal loans and other financial services to consumers. Prior to OneMain, Mr.
Levine served as President, CEO and a Director of Capmark Financial Group (“Capmark™), a commercial real estate finance
company, as part of its corporate restructuring from 2008 until 2011. From 2000 until 2008, Mr. Levine served as President, CEO and
a member of the Board of Directors of Royal Bank of Scotland (“RBS”’) Global Banking & Markets in North America, as well as
CEO of'its predecessor entity, RBS Greenwich Capital. Additionally, from November 2019 through August 2020, Mr. Levine served
on the Board of Directors of FinServ Acquisition Corp. (NASDAQ: FSRV), a SPAC focused on the financial services industry. Mr.
Levine earned a bachelor’s degree from the University of California Davis.
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In connection with the election of such trustees, the Company entered into an indemnification agreement with each of Messrs. Levine,
Walker and Schuh and Ms. Lamb, effective as of November 10, 2023. The terms of the indemnification agreement are substantially
identical to the terms of the indemnification agreements the Company has entered into with each of its other trustees and executive
officers. The indemnification agreement requires, among other things, that, subject to certain limitations, the Company will
indemnify each of Messrs. Levine, Walker and Schuh and Ms. Lamb and advance to such trustee all related expenses, subject to
reimbursement if it is subsequently determined that indemnification is not permitted. This description of the indemnification
agreement is a summary and is qualified in its entirety by the full terms of the Company’s form of indemnification agreement, which
was included as Exhibit 10.4 to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed with the
SEC on October 31, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.

For their service as a trustee, each of each of Messrs. Levine and Walker and Ms. Lamb will be compensated in accordance with the
Compensation Policies (as defined below).

Independent Trustee Compensation

On November 10, 2023, the board of trustees adopted an independent trustee compensation policy (the “Independent Trustee
Compensation Policy”) and an independent trustee restricted common share plan (the “Independent Trustee Restricted Common Share
Plan” and, together with the Independent Trust Compensation Policy, the “Compensation Policies”), in each case, effective November
10, 2023. Pursuant to the terms of the Compensation Policies, each of the Company’s non-employee trustees who are not affiliated
with the Advisor or Starwood Capital will be compensated for their service as a trustee with an annual retainer of $75,000, plus an
additional annual retainer of $15,000 for the chairperson of the Audit Committee (the “Annual Compensation”). The Annual
Compensation is payable in quarterly installments, with (i) 75% of the Annual Compensation payable in cash and (ii) the remaining
25% in an annual grant of restricted Class E common shares issued at a price per share equal to the most recently determined NAV
per Class E common share as of the date of grant, which will vest one year from the date of grant; provided that, in connection with
the first annual grant, the restricted Class E common shares will be based on the initial per share price of common shares offered in
the Company’s continuous private offering. In addition, on November 10, 2023, the board of trustees approved initial grants of
restricted Class E common shares as set forth in the Compensation Policies, which will be issued on the third business day following
the initial closing of the Company’s continuous private offering.

The description of the Compensation Policies is a summary and is qualified in its entirety by the full terms of the Compensation
Policies, which are filed as Exhibit 10.4, Exhibit 10.5 and Exhibit 10.6 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and incorporated herein
by reference.

Starwood Capital Subscription Agreement

On November 13, 2023, the Company entered into a subscription agreement (the “Starwood Subscription Agreement”), by and
between the Company and Starwood Capital, pursuant to which Starwood Capital has agreed, from time to time, to purchase from the
Company an aggregate amount of not less than $150 million in Class E shares, at a price per share equal to the Company’s most
recently determined NAV of its Class E shares, or if an NAV has yet to be calculated, then $20.00 (the “Initial Capitalization™).
Starwood Capital has agreed to hold all of the Class E shares it receives in connection with the Initial Capitalization until, (i) with
respect to the Class E shares issued in respect of the initial $125 million of its commitment, the date that is the earlier of (a) the first
date that the Company’s NAV reaches $1 billion and (b) the second anniversary of the initial closing of the Company’s continuous
private offering, (ii) with respect to the Class E shares issued in respect of Starwood Capital’s commitment in excess of $125 million,
but not greater than $150 million, the date that is the second anniversary of the initial closing of the Company’s continuous private
offering and (iii) with respect to any remaining Class E shares (representing purchases exceeding $150 million), at any time following
the initial closing of the Company’s continuous private offering (such dates referred to in (i) — (iii), collectively, the “Applicable
Liquidity Date”). Following the Applicable Liquidity Date, Starwood Capital may, from time to time, request to have such Class E
shares repurchased by the Company at a price per share equal to the most recently determined NAV per Class E share as of the
repurchase date (each, a “Starwood Repurchase”). The Class E shares issued in the Initial Capitalization are not eligible for
repurchase pursuant to the Company’s share repurchase plan and are not therefore subject to the quarterly limitation or the Early
Repurchase Deduction.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, for so long as Starwood Capital or its affiliate acts as the Advisor, the Company will not effect any
Starwood Repurchase in any quarter that the full amount of all common shares requested to be repurchased by shareholders other than
Starwood Capital and its affiliates under the share repurchase plan are not repurchased or the share repurchase plan has been
suspended.

The description of the Starwood Subscription Agreement is a summary and is qualified in its entirety by the full terms of the
Starwood Subscription Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit 10.3 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and incorporated herein by
reference.
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Share Repurchase Plan and Distribution Reinvestment Plan

Effective as of November 10, 2023, the board of trustees adopted a share repurchase plan (the “Share Repurchase Plan”), pursuant to
which shareholders may request on a quarterly basis that the Company repurchase all or any portion of their common shares, subject
to certain limitations as set forth therein. The aggregate NAV of total repurchases of Class T shares, Class S shares, Class D shares,
Class E shares and Class I shares (including repurchases at certain non-U.S. investor access funds primarily created to hold the
Company’s shares) under its share repurchase plan is limited to no more than 5% of the Company’s aggregate NAV per calendar
quarter (measured using the aggregate NAV as of the end of the immediately preceding month). In addition, effective as of
November 10, 2023, the board of trustees adopted a distribution reinvestment plan (the “DRP”), whereby shareholders will have their
cash distributions automatically reinvested in additional common shares unless they elect to receive their distributions in cash. The
foregoing description of the DRP does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the DRP, a copy of
which is included as Exhibit 4.1 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and incorporated herein by reference.

During the three months ended September 30, 2023, no trustee or officer (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act) of the
Company adopted, modified or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” as each
such term is defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.
Exhibit No. Description

3.1 Certificate of Trust of Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust, dated June 28, 2023 (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on August 3, 2023 and incorporated by reference herein)

4.1 Distribution Reinvestment Plan

10.1 Dealer Manager Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2023, by and between Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust and Starwood
Capital, L.L.C. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 3, 2023 and incorporated by
reference herein)

10.2 Form of Participating Broker-Dealer Agreement between the Dealer Manager and participating broker-dealers (included as Exhibit A
to the Dealer Manager Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.1 hereof)

10.3 Subscription Agreement, dated November 13, 2023, by and between Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust and
Starwood Real Estate Income Holdings, L.P.

104 Independent Trustee Compensation Policy, effective as of November 10, 2023

10.5 Independent Trustee Restricted Common Share Plan, dated November 10, 2023

10.6 Form of Restricted Common Share Award Certificate

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as

Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act 0f 2002

322 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act 0f 2002

101 The following financial statements from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2023
formatted in inline XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheet (Unaudited), (ii) Statement of
Operations (Unaudited), (iii) Statement of Changes in Redeemable Common Shares and Equity (Unaudited), (v) Statement of Cash
Flows (Unaudited), (vi) the Notes to Financial Statements (Unaudited), and (vii) cover page

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual information or other disclosure
other than with respect to the terms of the agreements or other documents themselves, and you should not rely on them for that
purpose. In particular, any representations and warranties made by us in these agreements or other documents were made solely
within the specific context of the relevant agreement or document and may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they
were made or at any other time.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

STARWOOD CREDIT REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST
Date: November 14, 2023
By: /s/ Dennis G. Schuh

Name: Dennis G. Schuh
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 14, 2023 By: /s/ Marc A. Fox

Name: Marc A. Fox
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 4.1

DISTRIBUTION REINVESTMENT PLAN
Effective November 10, 2023

This Distribution Reinvestment Plan (the “Plan”) is adopted by Starwood Credit Real Estate
Income Trust, a Maryland statutory trust (the “Trust”), with respect to cash distributions declared
by its Board of Trustees on the Trust’s common shares of beneficial interest, par value $0.01 per
share (“Common Shares”), which are classified as Class T shares, Class S shares, Class D shares,
Class E shares and Class I shares.

1. Distribution Reinvestment. As agent for the shareholders (the “Shareholders™) of the
Trust who purchase Common Shares pursuant to the Trust’s continuous private offering or any
future private offering of the Trust (the “Offering”), and who do not opt out of participating in
the Plan (the “Participants’), the Trust will apply all dividends and other distributions declared
and paid in respect of the Common Shares held by each Participant and attributable to the class
of Common Shares purchased by such Participant (the “Distributions”), including Distributions
paid with respect to any full or fractional Common Shares acquired under the Plan, to the
purchase of additional Common Shares of the same class for such Participant.

2. Effective Date. The effective date of this Plan shall be November 10, 2023.

3. Procedure for Participation. Any Shareholder who has received the Trust’s Private
Placement Memorandum, as amended and/or supplemented from time to time (the
“Memorandum”), will automatically become a Participant unless they elect not to become a
Participant by noting such election on their subscription agreement; provided, however that any
Shareholder who is a client of a participating broker-dealer that requires affirmative enrollment
in the Plan will only become a Participant if they elect to become a Participant by noting such
election on their subscription agreement. Any Shareholder that is not a Participant may later elect
to become a Participant by subsequently completing and executing an enrollment form or any
appropriate authorization form as may be available from the Trust, the Trust’s transfer agent, the
dealer manager for the Offering or any soliciting dealer participating in the distribution of
Common Shares for the Offering. Participation in the Plan will begin with the next Distribution
payable after acceptance of a Participant’s subscription, enrollment or authorization. Common
Shares will be purchased under the Plan on the date that Distributions are paid by the Trust.

4. Accredited Investor Status. Each Participant is requested to promptly notify the
Company in writing if the Participant experiences a material change in his or her financial
condition, including the failure to meet the definition of an “accredited investor” and other
investment requirements, as set forth in the Memorandum.

5. Purchase of Common Shares.

A. Participants will acquire Plan Shares (as defined below) at a price equal to the most
recently disclosed transaction price per Common Share applicable to the class of Common
Shares purchased by the Participant on the date that the distribution is payable (calculated as of
the most recent month end). No upfront selling commissions will be payable with respect to
Common Shares purchased pursuant to the Plan, but such Common Shares will be subject to
ongoing stockholder servicing fees, if any. Participants in the Plan may purchase fractional



Common Shares so that 100% of the Distributions will be used to acquire Common Shares.
However, a Participant will not be able to acquire Plan Shares and such Participant’s
participation in the Plan will be terminated to the extent that a reinvestment of such Participant’s
distributions in Common Shares would cause the percentage ownership or other limitations
contained in the Trust’s Declaration of Trust to be violated. “Plan Shares” means Common
Shares from the Trust (including Common Shares purchased by the Trust for the Plan in a
secondary market (if available) or on a stock exchange (if listed)) under the Plan.

B. Common Shares issued through the Plan will be issued as part of the Offering. Common
Shares will be subject to certain transfer restrictions. In particular, Common Shares issued
through the Plan have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), the securities laws of any U.S. state or the securities laws of any other
jurisdiction and instead are being offered and sold in reliance on exemptions from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act and state and other securities laws. Therefore, any
Common Shares issued through the Plan may not be resold or transferred except as permitted
under the Securities Act and applicable state and other securities laws pursuant to registration or
an exemption therefrom.

6. Taxes. THE REINVESTMENT OF DISTRIBUTIONS DOES NOT RELIEVE A
PARTICIPANT OF ANY INCOME TAX LIABILITY THAT MAY BE PAYABLE ON THE
DISTRIBUTIONS. INFORMATION REGARDING POTENTIAL TAX INCOME LIABILITY
OF PARTICIPANTS MAY BE FOUND IN THE PUBLIC FILINGS MADE BY THE
COMPANY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (“SEC”).

7. Common Share Certificates. The ownership of Common Shares purchased through the
Plan will be in book-entry form unless and until the Trust issues certificates for its outstanding
Common Shares.

8. Reports. On a quarterly basis, the Trust shall provide each Participant a statement of
account describing, as to such Participant: (i) the Distributions reinvested during the quarter; (ii)
the number and class of Common Shares purchased pursuant to the Plan during the quarter; (iii)
the per share purchase price for such Common Shares; and (iv) the total number of Common
Shares purchased on behalf of the Participant under the Plan. On an annual basis, tax information
with respect to income earned on Common Shares under the Plan for the calendar year will be
provided to each applicable participant.

9. Termination by Participant. A Participant may terminate participation in the Plan at any
time, without penalty, by delivering at least 10 business days’ prior written notice to the Trust
and the Trust may, in its discretion, accept and terminate participation for any notice received
less than 10 business days prior to the payment of a distribution. Any transfer of Common Shares
by a Participant to a non-Participant will terminate participation in the Plan with respect to the
transferred Common Shares. If a Participant requests that the Trust repurchase a portion of the
Participant’s Common Shares, the Participant’s participation in the Plan will continue with
respect to the Participant’s Common Shares that were not repurchased. If a Participant requests
that the Trust repurchase all of the Participant’s Common Shares, the Participant’s participation
in the Plan will be automatically terminated, whether or not all of the Participant’s Common
Shares are actually repurchased. If a Participant terminates Plan participation, the Trust may, at



its option, ensure that the terminating Participant’s account will reflect the whole number of
shares in such Participant’s account and provide a check for the cash value of any fractional
share in such account. Upon termination of Plan participation for any reason, future Distributions
will be distributed to the Shareholder in cash.

10. Amendment, Suspension or Termination by the Trust. The Board of Trustees may by
majority vote amend any aspect of the Plan; provided that the Plan cannot be amended to
eliminate a Participant’s right to terminate participation in the Plan and that notice of any
material amendment must be provided to Participants at least 10 days prior to the effective date
of that amendment. The Board of Trustees may by majority vote suspend or terminate the Plan
for any reason upon ten days’ written notice to the Participants.

11. Liability of the Trust. The Trust shall not be liable for any act done in good faith, or for
any good faith omission to act, including, without limitation, any claims or liability (i) arising out
of failure to terminate a Participant’s account upon such Participant’s death prior to timely
receipt of notice in writing of such death or (ii) with respect to the time and the prices at which
Common Shares are purchased or sold for a Participant’s account. To the extent that
indemnification may apply to liabilities arising under the Securities Act, or the securities laws of
a particular state, the Trust has been advised that, in the opinion of the SEC and certain state
securities commissioners, such indemnification is contrary to public policy and, therefore,
unenforceable.



Exhibit 10.3

SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT

To: Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust
2340 Collins Avenue
Miami Beach, FL 33139

Re: Subscription Agreement for the Purchase of Class E Common Shares of Beneficial Interest
(this “Subscription Agreement”)

Starwood Real Estate Income Holdings, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“Starwood RE
Income Holdings”), or any entity that is controlled by, controls or is under common control with Starwood
RE Income Holdings and any of their respective predecessor entities (collectively, “Starwood Capital™), as
of the 13th day of November, 2023, agrees, from time to time, to purchase a number of Class E common
shares of beneficial interest, par value $0.01 per common share (the “Class E Shares”), of Starwood Credit
Real Estate Income Trust, a Maryland statutory trust (the “Trust”), in an aggregate amount of not less than
$150 million (the “Commitment”), pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Subscription Agreement.
Each of the Trust and Starwood Capital agree that, to the extent the Class E shares are not yet designated
under the Trust’s organizational documents as of the date of any Capital Contribution (as defined below),
the Trust shall issue common shares to Starwood Capital, which shall subsequently be reclassified as Class
E Shares in connection with such designation at a later date.

Starwood Capital acknowledges that the Trust will not register the issuance of the Class E Shares
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act™), or any state securities laws (the “State
Acts”) in reliance upon exemptions from registration contained in the Securities Act and the State Acts, and
that the Trust relies upon these exemptions, in part, because of Starwood Capital’s representations,
warranties and agreements contained in this Subscription Agreement.

The parties hereto represent, warrant and agree as follows:

1. Starwood Capital hereby agrees, from time to time, to purchase from the Trust an aggregate of
not less than $150 million in Class E Shares, subject to the following additional provisions:

a.  The Trust shall provide at least five (5) business days, or such shorter period upon
the consent of Starwood Capital, prior notice (each, a “Contribution Notice”) when the Trust requires a
capital contribution from Starwood Capital pursuant to this Subscription Agreement (a “Capital
Contribution”). The Contribution Notice shall include the amount of the Capital Contribution (the “Capital
Contribution Amount”) and the date by which such amount shall be paid to the Trust (the “Contribution
Date™).

b.  Starwood Capital shall make all Capital Contributions pursuant to the terms of this
Subscription Agreement in U.S. dollars by wire transfer of immediately available funds on the applicable
Contribution Date.

c.  Inexchange for each Capital Contribution pursuant to the terms of this Subscription
Agreement, the Trust shall issue to Starwood Capital a number of Class E Shares equal to the applicable
Capital Contribution Amount divided by a per Class E Share price equal to either (i) where the Trust has
not yet calculated a net asset value (“NAV”) per share of the Class E Shares, a Class E Share price equal to
$20.00 or (ii) after the date on which the Trust calculates a NAV per share of the Class E Shares, a Class E
Share price equal to the most recently determined NAV per share of the Class E Shares immediately prior
to the Contribution Date, as determined by Starwood Credit Advisors, L.L.C., the Trust’s investment
advisor, and consistent with the valuation procedures described in the Trust’s Private Placement



Memorandum in connection with its continuous private offering (as amended and/or supplemented from
time to time, the “Private Placement Memorandum”).

2. Starwood Capital hereby represents and warrants to the Trust as follows:

a.  Starwood Capital has carefully read this Subscription Agreement and, to the extent
it believes necessary, has discussed with its counsel the representations, warranties and agreements that it
makes by signing this Subscription Agreement and acknowledges and agrees to all of the limitations set
forth herein relating to the repurchase by the Trust of such Class E Shares.

b.  Starwood Capital is a legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of the state, commonwealth or other jurisdiction wherein it was organized or
established. Starwood Capital has all requisite power and authority to purchase the Class E Shares, execute
and deliver this Subscription Agreement and to perform all of the obligations required to be performed by
Starwood Capital hereunder, and such purchase and performance will not violate or contravene any law,
rule or regulation binding on or applicable to Starwood Capital or any investment guideline or restriction
applicable to Starwood Capital. The person executing this Subscription Agreement on behalf of Starwood
Capital is duly authorized to do so in the capacity in which such person is executing this Subscription
Agreement. This Subscription Agreement and any other documents executed and delivered by Starwood
Capital in connection herewith have been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by Starwood Capital,
and are the legal, valid, and binding obligations of Starwood Capital, enforceable against Starwood Capital
in accordance with their respective terms, except to the extent that enforceability may be limited by
bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium, and similar laws of general
application related to or affecting creditors’ rights and by general equitable principles.

c.  Starwood Capital is purchasing the Class E Shares for its own account, with the
intention of holding the Class E Shares for investment and with no present intention of dividing or allowing
others to participate in this investment or of reselling or otherwise participating, directly or indirectly, in a
distribution of the Class E Shares. Starwood Capital will not make any sale, transfer or other disposition of
the Class E Shares without registration under the Securities Act and the State Acts unless an exemption
from registration is available under the Securities Act and the State Acts. Starwood Capital acknowledges
that Starwood Capital and its affiliates have no right to require the Trust or any other party to seek such
registration of the Class E Shares. Starwood Capital acknowledges that the Trust has no obligation to
comply with the conditions of Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act or to take any other action
necessary in order to make available any exemption for the resale of the Class E Shares without registration.
Starwood Capital further acknowledges that the Class E Shares will be subject to significant restrictions on
transferability and ownership as set forth from time to time in the Trust’s Declaration of Trust (as amended
from time to time, the “Declaration of Trust”).

d.  Starwood Capital is familiar with the business in which the Trust is or will be
engaged, and based upon its knowledge and experience in financial and business matters, it is familiar with
the investments of the type that it is agreeing to undertake in this Subscription Agreement; it is fully aware
of the problems and risks involved in making investments of this type; and it is capable of evaluating the
merits and risks of such investments.

e.  Starwood Capital is not relying on any communication (written or oral) of the Trust
or any of their respective affiliates as investment or tax advice or as a recommendation to purchase the
Class E Shares. Starwood Capital acknowledges that no U.S. federal or state or non-U.S. agency has passed
upon the merits or risks of an investment in the Class E Shares or made any finding or determination
concerning the fairness or advisability of an investment in the Class E Shares.



f. Starwood Capital has such knowledge, skill and experience in business, financial and
investment matters that Starwood Capital is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in
the Class E Shares and making an informed investment decision with respect thereto. Starwood Capital has
made an independent legal, tax, accounting and financial evaluation of the merits and risks of an investment
in the Class E Shares. Starwood Capital is able to bear the substantial economic risks related to an
investment in the Class E Shares for an indefinite period of time, has no need for liquidity in such
investment, and can afford a complete loss of such investment.

g.  Starwood Capital is an “accredited investor” as defined in Regulation D under the
Securities Act. Starwood Capital agrees to furnish additional information reasonably requested by the Trust
to assure compliance with applicable securities laws, rules and regulations in connection with the purchase
and sale of the Class E Shares.

h.  Starwood Capital acknowledges that neither the Trust nor any other person offered
to sell the Class E Shares by means of, and Starwood Capital is not investing in the Class E Shares as a
result of, any form of general solicitation or advertising, including but not limited to: (a) any advertisement,
article, notice or other communication published in any newspaper, magazine or similar media or broadcast
over television or radio or (b) any seminar or meeting whose attendees were invited by any general
solicitation or general advertising.

1. Except as otherwise disclosed to the Trust, Starwood Capital hereby certifies that
none of the disqualifying events or conditions (each, a “Rule 506(d) Event”) described in Rule 506(d) under
Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act has occurred or is true as of the date hereof with respect
to (a) Starwood Capital or (b) any beneficial owner of Starwood Capital which indirectly holds 20% or
more of the total outstanding shares of the Trust. Starwood Capital shall promptly notify the Trust, in the
event that, after the date hereof, the foregoing sentence is no longer accurate.

] Starwood Capital acknowledges that the Trust will not issue physical certificates for
the Class E Shares. Instead, the Class E Shares will be recorded on the books and records of the Trust or
the Trust’s transfer agent.

k.  Starwood Capital acknowledges that the representations made by Starwood Capital
herein shall be continuing and must be valid as of each Contribution Date. If there is any material change
to the facts or circumstances underlying the representations made by Starwood Capital herein such that the
representations would become false, inaccurate or misleading, Starwood Capital agrees to promptly notify
the Trust of such material change.

3. The Trust hereby represents and warrants to Starwood Capital as follows:

a.  The Trustis a legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under
the laws of the state of Maryland. The Trust has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver
this Subscription Agreement and to perform all of the obligations required to be performed by it hereunder,
and such performance will not violate or contravene any law, rule or regulation binding on or applicable to
the Trust. The person executing this Subscription Agreement on behalf of the Trust is duly authorized to
do so in the capacity in which such person is executing this Subscription Agreement. This Subscription
Agreement and any other documents executed and delivered by the Trust in connection herewith have been
duly authorized, executed, and delivered by the Trust and are the legal, valid, and binding obligations of
the Trust, enforceable against the Trust in accordance with their respective terms, except to the extent that
enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium,
and similar laws of general application related to or affecting creditors’ rights and by general equitable
principles.



b.  Neither the offer and sale of the Class E Shares nor the execution and delivery by the
Trust of, and the performance by the Trust of its respective obligations under, this Subscription Agreement
will result in a violation or default of, or the imposition of any lien upon any assets of the Trust or any of
its respective subsidiaries pursuant to (a) any provision of applicable law, (b) its organizational documents,
(c) the organizational documents, each as amended, of any subsidiary of the Trust, (d) any agreement or
other instrument binding upon the Trust or any subsidiary of the Trust or (¢) any order any governmental
entity, agency or court having jurisdiction over the Trust or any subsidiary of the Trust or any of its assets,
except in the case of clauses (a), (c), (d) and (e) for any such violation, default or lien that would not,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect the Trust’s
business, financial condition or results of operations or the Trust’s ability to perform its obligations under
this Subscription Agreement.

c.  No consent, approval, authorization, order, registration, qualification or filing of or
with any governmental entity by the Trust is required in connection with the transactions contemplated
herein, except such as may be required under the Securities Act or State Acts. No consent, approval, or
authorization of any other person is required to be obtained by the Trust in connection with the transactions
contemplated herein, except for any such consent, approval or authorization that would not reasonably be
expected to materially and adversely affect the Trust’s business, financial condition or results of operations
or the Trust’s ability to perform its obligations under this Subscription Agreement.

d.  The Class E Shares to be issued pursuant to the terms of this Subscription Agreement
will, when issued, paid for and delivered, be duly and validly authorized, issued and delivered and shall be
fully paid and non-assessable, and such Class E Shares will be free and clear of all taxes, liens (other than
transfer restrictions imposed hereunder, under the Declaration of Trust or by applicable law), preemptive
rights, subscription and similar rights.

e.  As of the date hereof, there is no action, suit or proceeding before or by any court or
governmental agency or body, now pending, or, to the knowledge of the Trust, threatened against the Trust
or any of its respective subsidiaries, which would have a material adverse effect on or would materially and
adversely affect the properties or assets of the Trust or which might materially and adversely affect the
Trust’s ability to perform its obligations under this Subscription Agreement.

f. The Trust acknowledges that the representations made by it herein shall be
continuing and must be valid as of each Contribution Date.

4. The Class E Shares purchased by Starwood Capital described herein shall be subject to the
following repurchase terms:

a.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Section 4, Starwood Capital
agrees to hold all of the Class E Shares it receives in connection with the Commitment until (i) with respect
to Class E Shares issued in respect of the initial $125 million of the Commitment, the earlier of (x) the first
date that the Trust’s NAV reaches $1 billion and (y) the second anniversary of the initial closing of the
Trust’s continuous private offering, (ii) with respect to Class E shares issued in respect of the Commitment
in excess of $125 million, but not greater than $150 million, at least the second anniversary of the initial
closing of the Trust’s continuous private offering, and (iii) with respect to any remaining Class E shares
(representing purchases exceeding $150 million), at any time following the initial closing of the Trust’s
continuous private offering (such dates referred to in (i) - (iii), collectively, the “Applicable Liquidity
Date”).




b.  Following the Applicable Liquidity Date, Starwood Capital may, from time to time,
request to have such Class E Shares repurchased by the Trust (each a “Starwood Repurchase”) at a price
per share equal to the most recently determined NAV per Class E Share as of the repurchase date.

c.  The Class E Shares issued in connection with the Commitment are not eligible for
repurchase pursuant to the Trust’s share repurchase plan as described in the Private Placement
Memorandum (as amended from time to time, the “Share Repurchase Plan”) and are not therefore subject
to the quarterly limitation or the early repurchase deduction as described therein.

d.  For so long as Starwood Capital or its affiliate acts as investment advisor to the Trust,
the Trust shall not effect any Starwood Repurchase with respect to any quarter in which either (i) the full
amount of all common shares of the Trust requested to be repurchased under the Share Repurchase Plan
are not repurchased or (ii) the Share Repurchase Plan has been suspended.

e.  Should any Starwood Repurchase, in the Trust’s judgment, place an undue burden
on the Trust’s liquidity, adversely affect the Trust’s operations or risk having an adverse impact on the
Trust as a whole, the Trust may elect not to redeem or repurchase from Starwood Capital, or may offer to
purchase or redeem less than the amount of the Starwood Repurchase.

f. The Trust may in its sole discretion determine to suspend repurchases under this
Subscription Agreement if it is prohibited from repurchasing the Class E Shares by a legal, contractual or
regulatory restriction applicable to it or its affiliates.

g.  Forsolong as Starwood Capital or its affiliate acts as investment advisor to the Trust,
Starwood Capital will not request that Class E Shares issued in respect of the Commitment be repurchased
under the Share Repurchase Plan.

5. The principal office of Starwood Capital is at the address shown under its signature on the
signature page of this Subscription Agreement.

6. This Subscription Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws
of the State of New York without giving effect to the conflict of laws provisions therein.

7. This Subscription Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties with respect to
the subject matter thereof. The provisions of this Subscription Agreement may not be modified or waived
except in a writing signed by both parties.

8. This Subscription Agreement and the rights, powers and duties set forth herein shall, except as
set forth herein, bind and inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives,
successors and assigns of the parties hereto. The parties hereto may not assign any of their respective rights
or interests in and under this Subscription Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party,
and any attempted assignment without such consent shall be void and without effect.

9. If any part of this Subscription Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be
unenforceable, illegal or invalid, the balance of this Subscription Agreement shall remain in effect and

unaffected by such unenforceability, illegality or invalidity.

[Signature Page Follows]



IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties have executed this Subscription Agreement as of the date
first above written.

STARWOOD CAPITAL:

STARWOOD REAL ESTATE INCOME
HOLDINGS, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership

BY: Starwood Real Estate Income Holdings GP,
L.L.C,, its general partner

By: /s/ Nick Antonopoulos
Name: Nick Antonopoulos
Title: Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Address: 2340 Collins Avenue
Miami Beach, FL 33139
EIN: 82-2118398

Acknowledged by:

THE TRUST:

STARWOOD CREDIT REAL ESTATE INCOME
TRUST, a Maryland statutory trust

By: /s/ John P. McCarthy
Name: John P. McCarthy
Title: Chairperson of the Board

[Signature Page to Starwood Subscription Agreement|



Exhibit 10.4

STARWOOD CREDIT REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST
INDEPENDENT TRUSTEE COMPENSATION POLICY

Effective Date

On November 10, 2023, the Board of Trustees (the “Board”) of Starwood Credit Real Estate
Income Trust (the “Trust”) adopted this Independent Trustee Compensation Policy, to be effective
as of November 10, 2023. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the
meanings assigned to such terms in the Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust Independent
Trustee Restricted Common Share Plan (the “Plan”).

Eligibility

This policy shall apply to trustees of the Trust who meet the requirements set forth for an
“Independent Trustee” in the Trust’s Declaration of Trust.

Compensation

Each Independent Trustee shall receive an annual retainer of $75,000 and the chairperson of the
Board’s audit committee (“Audit Committee Chairperson”) shall receive an additional annual
retainer of $15,000 (the “Compensation”). The Compensation shall remain in effect until changed
by the Board.

Payment Timing and Form

Seventy-five percent (75%) of the Compensation shall be paid by the Trust in quarterly
installments in cash in arrears, as soon as possible following the end of the calendar quarter to
which the Compensation relates, and the remaining twenty-five percent (25%) shall be paid in the
form of restricted shares of the Trust’s Class E common shares (“Class E Restricted Common
Shares”) as provided below.

Terms and Conditions of Class E Restricted Common Shares

» The Class E Restricted Common Shares shall be granted under, and subject to the terms
and conditions of, the Plan, and the Award Certificate evidencing such grant.

e Other than as set forth under “Proration” below, the Class E Restricted Common Shares
shall be granted on the third (3rd) business day following the initial closing of the
Trust’s continuous private offering (the “Initial Grant Date) and on each subsequent
anniversary thereof (each, a “Grant Date”), subject to each Independent Trustee’s
continued service to the Trust as a trustee and qualification as an Independent Trustee
on each Grant Date. On the Initial Grant Date, each Independent Trustee shall be
entitled to receive 938 Class E Restricted Common Shares and the Audit Committee
Chairperson shall be entitled to receive an additional 188 Class E Restricted Common
Shares, each of which will vest on the first Grant Date thereafter (the “Initial Trustee
Grants”).



Proration

Following the Initial Trustee Grants, the number of Class E Restricted Common Shares
granted to an Independent Trustee shall be determined by (A) dividing 25% of the
Compensation due to the Independent Trustee, taking into account any required
proration as described below, by the most recently determined net asset value per share
of the Trust’s Class E common shares as of the applicable Grant Date, and (B) rounding
the quotient to the nearest whole number.

Unless and until provided otherwise by the Board, the Class E Restricted Common
Shares granted to an Independent Trustee pursuant to this Policy, including any DRIP
shares associated with the unvested Class E Restricted Common Shares, shall vest and
become non-forfeitable on the one-year anniversary of the Initial Grant Date or the
Grant Date, as applicable, provided, in each case, that the Independent Trustee
continues to provide services to the Trust as a trustee and qualifies as an Independent
Trustee on each such vesting date. Notwithstanding the foregoing vesting schedule, all
outstanding unvested Class E Restricted Common Shares held by an Independent
Trustee shall become fully vested on the earlier occurrence of:

(1) the termination of the Independent Trustee’s service as a trustee of the Trust due
to his or her death or Disability; or

(i1) a Change in Control.

If the Independent Trustee’s service as a trustee of the Trust terminates other than as
described in clause (i) of the foregoing sentence, then the Independent Trustee shall
forfeit all of his or her right, title and interest in and to any unvested Class E Restricted
Common Shares as of the date of such termination from the Board and such Class E
Restricted Common Shares shall be forfeited to the Trust without further consideration
or any act or action by the Board or the Independent Trustee.

If an Independent Trustee is newly appointed or elected to the Board, then his or her
first quarterly cash payment will be prorated to reflect the number of full calendar
months of service between the effective date of the Independent Trustee’s appointment
or election through the last day of the respective calendar quarter (e.g. if an Independent
Trustee is appointed or elected to the Board on January 15, then his or her first quarterly
cash payment will be reduced by 1/3 to cover 2 full months of service during February
and March of such calendar quarter).

Other than with respect to the Initial Trustee Grants, if an Independent Trustee is newly
appointed or elected to the Board, (i) his or her Class E Restricted Common Shares
grant shall be prorated to reflect the number of full calendar months between the date
of his or her appointment or election to the Board and the next Grant Date (e.g., if an
Independent Trustee is appointed or elected to the Board on June 28, then his or her
first Class E Restricted Common Shares grant shall be prorated to reflect five full
months of service during July, August, September, October and November, assuming
a Grant Date in December) and (ii) such Independent Trustee shall be granted the



number of Class E Restricted Common Shares as described in (i) on the third (3rd)
business day following his or her appointment or election to the Board, which shall vest
on the first anniversary of such date.

Similarly, if an Independent Trustee’s service to the Board is terminated for any reason
during a calendar quarter, his or her last quarterly cash payment will be prorated to
reflect the number of full calendar months of service between the first day of the
respective calendar quarter and the termination date. Any such prorated cash payment
shall be made within seven calendar days following such termination. The Board may
alter or adjust the proration noted above for any Independent Trustee or for any
particular circumstance.



Exhibit 10.5

STARWOOD CREDIT REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST
INDEPENDENT TRUSTEE RESTRICTED COMMON SHARE PLAN

ARTICLE 1
PURPOSE

1.1.  PURPOSE. The purpose of the Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust
Independent Trustee Restricted Common Share Plan (the “Plan”) is to promote the interests of
Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust (the “Trust”) and its shareholders by granting restricted
shares and/or restricted share units to its Independent Trustees in order to: (i) attract and retain
highly qualified Independent Trustees by affording them an opportunity to share in the future
successes of the Trust, (ii) align the Independent Trustees’ financial interests with those of the
Trust’s shareholders and (iii) provide the Independent Trustees with a proprietary interest in
maximizing the growth, profitability and overall success of the Trust.

ARTICLE 2
DEFINITIONS

2.1.  DEFINITIONS. When a word or phrase appears in this Plan with the initial letter
capitalized, and the word or phrase does not commence a sentence, the word or phrase shall
generally be given the meaning ascribed to it in this Section or in Section 1.1 unless a clearly
different meaning is required by the context. The following words and phrases shall have the
following meanings:

(a) “Affiliate” means (i) any Subsidiary or Parent or (ii) an entity that directly or
through one or more intermediaries controls, is controlled by or is under common control
with, the Trust, as determined by the Board.

(b) “Award” means an award of Restricted Common Shares and/or Restricted
Common Share Units granted to a Participant under the Plan.

(c) “Award Certificate” means a written document, in such form as the Board
prescribes from time to time, setting forth the terms and conditions of an Award. Award
Certificates may be in the form of individual award agreements or certificates or a program
document describing the terms and provisions of an Award or series of Awards under the
Plan. The Board may provide for the use of electronic, internet or other non-paper Award
Certificates, and the use of electronic, internet or other non-paper means for the acceptance
thereof and actions thereunder by a Participant.

(d) “Beneficial Owner” shall have the meaning given such term in Rule 13d-3 of
the General Rules and Regulations under the 1934 Act.

(e) “Board” means the Board of Trustees of the Trust.



(f) “Change in Control” means and includes the occurrence of any one of the
following events (but shall specifically exclude an Offering):

(i) during any consecutive 12-month period, individuals who, at the
beginning of such period, constitute the Board of Trustees of the Trust (the
“Incumbent Trustees”) cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of such
Board, provided that any person becoming a trustee after the beginning of such 12-
month period and whose election or nomination for election was approved by a vote
of at least a majority of the Incumbent Trustees then on the Board shall be an
Incumbent Trustee; or

(il) any person becomes a Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of either
(A) 50% or more of the then-outstanding Common Shares or (B) securities of the
Trust representing 50% or more of the combined voting power of the Trust’s then
outstanding securities eligible to vote for the election of trustees (the “Voting
Securities”); provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection (ii), the
following acquisitions of Common Shares or Voting Securities shall not constitute
a Change in Control: (w) an acquisition directly from the Trust, (x) an acquisition
by the Trust or a Subsidiary, (y) an acquisition by any employee benefit plan (or
related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Trust or any Subsidiary, or (z) an
acquisition pursuant to a Non-Qualifying Transaction (as defined in subsection (iii)
below); or

(ii1))  the consummation of a reorganization, merger, consolidation, statutory
share exchange or similar form of corporate transaction involving the Trust or a
Subsidiary (a “Reorganization”), or the sale or other disposition of all or
substantially all of the Trust’s assets (a “Sale”) or the acquisition of assets or stock
of another corporation or other entity (an “Acquisition”), unless immediately
following such Reorganization, Sale or Acquisition: (A) all or substantially all of
the individuals and entities who were the Beneficial Owners, respectively, of the
outstanding Common Shares and outstanding Trust Voting Securities immediately
prior to such Reorganization, Sale or Acquisition beneficially own, directly or
indirectly, more than 50% of, respectively, the then-outstanding Common Shares
and the combined voting power of the then-outstanding Voting Securities entitled
to vote generally in the election of directors/trustees, as the case may be, of the
entity resulting from such Reorganization, Sale or Acquisition (including, without
limitation, an entity which as a result of such transaction owns the Trust or all or
substantially all of the Trust’s assets or shares either directly or through one or more
subsidiaries, the “Surviving Entity”) in substantially the same proportions as their
ownership, immediately prior to such Reorganization, Sale or Acquisition, of then-
outstanding Common Shares and then-outstanding Voting Securities, as the case
may be, and (B) no person (other than (x) the Trust or any Subsidiary, (y) the
Surviving Entity or its ultimate parent entity, or (z) any employee benefit plan (or
related trust) sponsored or maintained by any of the foregoing) is the Beneficial
Owner, directly or indirectly, of 50% or more of the total common shares or 50%
or more of the total voting power of the outstanding voting securities eligible to
elect directors or trustees of the Surviving Entity, and (C) at least a majority of the
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members of the board of directors or trustees of the Surviving Entity were
Incumbent Trustees at the time of the Board’s approval of the execution of the
initial agreement providing for such Reorganization, Sale or Acquisition (any
Reorganization, Sale or Acquisition which satisfies all of the criteria specified in
(A), (B) and (C) above shall be deemed to be a “Non-Qualifying Transaction”).

(g) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to
time. For purposes of this Plan, references to sections of the Code shall be deemed to
include references to any applicable regulations thereunder and any successor or similar
provision.

(h) “Common Shares” means shares of beneficial interest of the Trust, par value
$0.01 per share. If there has been an adjustment or substitution with respect to the Common
Shares (whether or not pursuant to Article 9), the term “Common Shares” shall also include
any common shares or other securities that are substituted for Common Shares or into
which Common Shares are adjusted.

(1) “Continuous Service” means the absence of any interruption or termination of
service as a trustee of the Trust.

(j) “Declaration of Trust” means the means the Declaration of the Trust, as may
be amended, supplemented or restated from time to time.

(k) “Disability” of a Participant shall mean the inability of the Participant, as
reasonably determined by the Trust, to perform the essential functions of his or her regular
duties and responsibilities, with or without reasonable accommodation, due to a medically
determinable physical or mental illness which has lasted (or can reasonably be expected to
last) for a period of six (6) consecutive months or more.

()  “Dividend Equivalent” means a right granted with respect to a Restricted
Common Share Unit Award pursuant to Article 7.

(m) “Effective Date” has the meaning assigned such term in Section 3.1.

(n) “Grant Date” of an Award means the first date on which all necessary
corporate action has been taken to approve the grant of the Award as provided in the Plan,
or such later date as is determined and specified as part of that authorization process.
Notice of the grant shall be provided to the grantee within a reasonable time after the Grant
Date.

(o) “Independent Trustee” means a trustee of the Trust who meets the
requirements set forth for an “Independent Trustee” in the Declaration of Trust.

(p) “Offering” means a public or private offering of any class or series of the
Trust’s equity securities pursuant to a registration statement filed by the Trust under the
1933 Act or exemption therefrom.



(q) “Parent” means a corporation, limited liability company, partnership or other
entity which owns or beneficially owns a majority of the outstanding voting stock or voting
power of the Trust.

(r) “Participant” means an Independent Trustee who has been granted an Award
under the Plan; provided that in the case of the death of a Participant, the term “Participant”
refers to a beneficiary designated pursuant to Section 8.5 or the legal guardian or other
legal representative acting in a fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Participant under
applicable state law and court supervision.

(s) “Person” means any individual, entity or group, within the meaning of Section
3(a)(9) of the 1934 Act and as used in Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the 1934 Act.

(t) “Plan” means this Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust Independent
Trustee Restricted Share Plan, as amended from time to time.

(u) “Restricted Common Shares” means Class E Common Shares granted to a
Participant under Article 6 that are subject to certain restrictions and to risk of forfeiture.

(v) “Restricted Common Share Unit” means the right granted to a Participant
under Article 6 to receive Class E Common Shares (or the equivalent value in cash or other
property if the Board so provides) in the future, which right is subject to certain restrictions
and to risk of forfeiture.

(w) “Subsidiary” means any corporation, limited liability company, partnership or
other entity of which a majority of the outstanding voting stock or voting power is
beneficially owned directly or indirectly by the Trust.

(x) “Trust” means Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust, a Maryland
statutory trust.

(y) “1933 Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time to time.

(z) “1934 Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from
time to time.

ARTICLE 3
EFFECTIVE TERM OF PLAN

3.1.  EFFECTIVE DATE. The Plan will become effective on the date that it is adopted

by the Board (the “Effective Date”).

3.2.  TERM OF PLAN. Unless earlier terminated as provided herein, the Plan shall

continue in effect until the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date or, if the shareholders approve
an amendment to the Plan that increases the number of Class E Common Shares subject to the
Plan, the tenth anniversary of the date of such approval. The termination of the Plan on such date
shall not affect the validity of any Award outstanding on the date of termination, which shall
continue to be governed by the applicable terms and conditions of the Plan.

4



ARTICLE 4
ADMINISTRATION

4.1.  ADMINISTRATOR; ACTION AND INTERPRETATIONS BY THE BOARD.
The Plan shall be administered by the Board. For purposes of administering the Plan, the Board
may from time to time adopt rules, regulations, guidelines and procedures for carrying out the
provisions and purposes of the Plan and make such other determinations, not inconsistent with the
Plan, as the Board may deem appropriate. The Board may correct any defect, supply any omission
or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan or in any Award in the manner and to the extent it deems
necessary to carry out the intent of the Plan. The Board’s interpretation of the Plan, any Awards
granted under the Plan, any Award Certificate and all decisions and determinations by the Board
with respect to the Plan are final, binding, and conclusive on all parties and shall be given the
maximum deference permitted by applicable law. Each member of the Board is entitled to, in
good faith, rely or act upon any report or other information furnished to that member by any officer
of the Trust or any Affiliate, the Trust’s or an Affiliate’s independent certified public accountants,
Trust counsel or any executive compensation consultant or other professional retained by the Trust
or the Board to assist in the administration of the Plan. No member of the Board will be liable for
any good faith determination, act or omission in connection with the Plan or any Award.

4.2. AUTHORITY OF BOARD. The Board has the exclusive power, authority and
discretion to: (a) grant Awards; (b) designate Participants; (c) determine the type or types of
Awards to be granted to each Participant; (d) determine the number of Awards to be granted and
the number of Class E Common Shares or dollar amount to which an Award will relate; (e)
determine the terms and conditions of any Award granted under the Plan; (f) prescribe the form of
each Award Certificate, which need not be identical for each Participant; (g) determine whether,
to what extent, and under what circumstances Awards may be settled in cash, Class E Common
Shares, other securities, other Awards or other property, or canceled, forfeited, or suspended and
the method or methods by which Awards may be settled, canceled, forfeited, or suspended; (h)
determine whether, to what extent, and under what circumstances the delivery of cash, Class E
Common Shares, other securities, other Awards or other property and other amounts payable with
respect to an Award shall be deferred either automatically or at the election of the Participant or
of the Board; (i) decide all other matters that must be determined in connection with an Award; (j)
establish, adopt or revise any rules, regulations, guidelines or procedures as it may deem necessary
or advisable to administer the Plan; (k) make all other decisions and determinations that may be
required under the Plan or as the Board deems necessary or advisable to administer the Plan; (1)
amend the Plan or any Award Certificate as provided herein; and (m) adopt such modifications,
procedures and subplans as may be necessary or desirable to comply with provisions of the laws
of the United States or any non-U.S. jurisdictions in which the Trust or any Affiliate may operate,
in order to assure the viability of the benefits of Awards granted to participants located in the
United States or such other jurisdictions and to further the objectives of the Plan.

ARTICLE 5
SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN

5.1. NUMBER AND CLASS OF SHARES. The Plan provides for the issuance of
Class E Common Shares pursuant to Awards. Subject to adjustment as provided in Sections 5.2
and Section 9.1, the aggregate number of Class E Common Shares reserved and available for
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issuance pursuant to Awards granted under the Plan shall be 200,000. The maximum aggregate
number of Class E Common Shares associated with any Award granted under the Plan in any
calendar year to any one Independent Trustee shall be 10,000.

5.2. SHARE COUNTING. Class E Common Shares covered by an Award shall be
subtracted from the Plan share reserve as of the Grant Date, but shall be added back to the Plan
share reserve or otherwise treated in accordance with this Section 5.2.

(a) To the extent that an Award is canceled, terminates, expires, is forfeited or
lapses for any reason, any unissued or forfeited Class E Common Shares subject to the
Award will be added back to the Plan share reserve and again be available for issuance
pursuant to Awards granted under the Plan.

(b) Class E Common Shares subject to Awards settled in cash will be added back
to the Plan share reserve and again be available for issuance pursuant to Awards granted
under the Plan.

(c) To the extent that the full number of Class E Common Shares subject to an
Award is not issued for any reason, the unissued Class E Common Shares originally subject
to the Award shall count against the number of Class E Common Shares remaining
available for issuance pursuant to Awards granted under the Plan.

5.3. SHARES DISTRIBUTED. Any Class E Common Shares distributed pursuant to
an Award may consist, in whole or in part, of authorized and unissued Class E Common Shares,
treasury Class E Common Shares or Class E Common Shares purchased on the open market.

ARTICLE 6
RESTRICTED COMMON SHARES AND RESTRICTED COMMON SHARE UNITS

6.1. GRANT OF RESTRICTED COMMON SHARES AND RESTRICTED
COMMON SHARE UNITS. The Board is authorized to make Awards of Restricted Common
Shares or Restricted Common Share Units to Participants in such amounts and subject to such
terms and conditions as may be selected by the Board and set forth in an Award Certificate setting
forth the terms, conditions, and restrictions applicable to the Award.

6.2. ISSUANCE AND RESTRICTIONS. Restricted Common Shares or Restricted
Common Share Units shall be subject to such restrictions on transferability and other restrictions
as the Board may impose (including, for example, limitations on the right to vote Restricted
Common Shares or the right to receive dividends on the Restricted Common Shares). These
restrictions may lapse separately or in combination at such times, under such circumstances, in
such installments, as the Board determines at the time of the grant of the Award or thereafter.
Except as otherwise provided in an Award Certificate or any special Plan document governing an
Award, a Participant shall have none of the rights of a shareholder with respect to Restricted
Common Share Units until such time as Class E Common Shares are issued in settlement of such
Awards.




6.3. DIVIDENDS ON RESTRICTED COMMON SHARES. In the case of Restricted
Common Shares, the Board may provide that ordinary cash dividends declared on the Common
Shares before they are vested (i) will be paid or distributed to the Participant holding Restricted
Common Shares as accrued (in which case, such dividends must be paid or distributed no later
than the 15th day of the 3rd month following the later of (A) the calendar year in which the
corresponding dividends were paid to other shareholders, or (B) the first calendar year in which
the Participant’s right to such dividends is no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture); (i)
will be deemed to have been reinvested in additional Class E Common Shares or otherwise
reinvested (subject to Class E Common Share availability under Section 5.1 hereof and subject to
the same vesting provisions as the corresponding Restricted Common Shares provided for in the
host Award); or (iii) will be credited by the Trust to an account for the Participant and accumulated
without interest until the date upon which the corresponding Restricted Common Shares become
vested and are no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture. Any dividends accrued with
respect to forfeited Restricted Common Shares will be forfeited and reconveyed to the Trust
without further consideration or any act or action by the Participant.

6.4. FORFEITURE. Subject to the terms of the Award Certificate and except as
otherwise determined by the Board at the time of the grant of the Award or thereafter, upon
termination of Continuous Service during the applicable restriction period and prior to vesting,
Restricted Common Shares and Restricted Common Share Units that are at that time unvested and
subject to restrictions shall be forfeited.

6.5. DELIVERY OF RESTRICTED COMMON SHARES. Restricted Common
Shares shall be delivered to the Participant at the Grant Date either by book-entry registration or
by delivering to the Participant, or a custodian or escrow agent (including, without limitation, the
Trust) designated by the Board, a share certificate or certificates registered in the name of the
Participant. If physical certificates representing shares of Restricted Common Shares are
registered in the name of the Participant, such certificates must bear an appropriate legend referring
to the terms, conditions, and restrictions applicable to such Restricted Common Shares.

ARTICLE 7
DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS

7.1.  GRANT OF DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS. The Board is authorized to grant
Dividend Equivalents with respect to Restricted Common Share Units granted hereunder, subject
to such terms and conditions as may be selected by the Board. Dividend Equivalents shall entitle
the Participant to receive payments equal to ordinary cash dividends or distributions with respect
to all or a portion of the number of Class E Common Shares subject to Restricted Common Share
Unit Award, as determined by the Board. The Board may provide that Dividend Equivalents (i)
will be paid or distributed to the Participant holding Restricted Common Share Units as accrued
(in which case, such Dividend Equivalents must be paid or distributed no later than the 15th day
of the 3rd month following the later of (A) the calendar year in which the corresponding dividends
were paid to shareholders, or (B) the first calendar year in which the Participant’s right to such
Dividend Equivalents is no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture), (ii) will be deemed to
have been reinvested in additional Class E Common Shares or otherwise reinvested, which shall
be subject to the same vesting provisions as the corresponding Restricted Common Share Units
provided for in the host Award, or (iii) will be credited by the Trust to an account for the Participant

7



and accumulated without interest until the date upon which the corresponding Restricted Common
Share Units become vested. Any Dividend Equivalents accrued with respect to forfeited Awards
will be forfeited and reconveyed to the Trust without further consideration or any act or action by
the Participant.

ARTICLE 8
PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO AWARDS

8.1.  ELIGIBILITY. Awards may be granted only to Independent Trustees.

8.2. AWARD CERTIFICATES. Each Award shall be evidenced by an Award
Certificate. Each Award Certificate shall include such provisions, not inconsistent with the Plan,
as may be specified by the Board.

8.3. FORM OF PAYMENT FOR AWARDS. At the discretion of the Board, payment
of Awards may be made in cash, Class E Common Shares, a combination of cash and Class E
Common Shares, or any other form of property as the Board shall determine. In addition, payment
of Awards may include such terms, conditions, restrictions and/or limitations, if any, as the Board
deems appropriate, including, in the case of Awards paid in the form of Class E Common Shares,
restrictions on transfer and forfeiture provisions.

8.4. LIMITS ON TRANSFER. No right or interest of a Participant in any restricted
Award may be pledged, encumbered, or hypothecated to or in favor of any party, or shall be subject
to any lien, obligation, or liability of such Participant to any other party. No restricted Award shall
be assignable or transferable by a Participant other than by will or the laws of descent and
distribution; provided, however, that the Board may (but need not) permit other transfers (other
than transfers for value) where the Board concludes that such transferability (i) does not result in
accelerated taxation, and (i1) is otherwise appropriate and desirable, taking into account any factors
deemed relevant, including without limitation, state or federal tax or securities laws applicable to
transferable Awards.

8.5. BENEFICIARIES. Notwithstanding Section 8.4, a Participant may, in the manner
determined by the Board, designate a beneficiary to exercise the rights of the Participant and to
receive any distribution with respect to any Award upon the Participant’s death. A beneficiary,
legal guardian, legal representative, or other person claiming any rights under the Plan is subject
to all terms and conditions of the Plan and any Award Certificate applicable to the Participant,
except to the extent the Plan and Award Certificate otherwise provide, and to any additional
restrictions deemed necessary or appropriate by the Board. If no beneficiary has been designated
or survives the Participant, any payment due to the Participant shall be made to the Participant’s
estate. Subject to the foregoing, a beneficiary designation may be changed or revoked by a
Participant, in the manner provided by the Trust, at any time provided the change or revocation is
filed with the Trust.

8.6. SHARE TRADING RESTRICTIONS. All Class E Common Shares issuable
under the Plan are subject to any stop-transfer orders and other restrictions as the Board deems
necessary or advisable to comply with federal or state securities laws, rules and regulations and
the rules of any national securities exchange or automated quotation system on which the Class E

8



Common Shares are listed, quoted, or traded. The Board may place legends on any Class E
Common Share certificate or issue instructions to the transfer agent to reference restrictions
applicable to the Class E Common Shares.

8.7. DISCRETION TO ACCELERATE VESTING. The Board may in its sole
discretion at any time determine that all or a part of the restrictions on all or a portion of the
Participant’s outstanding Awards shall lapse, as of such date as the Board may, in its sole
discretion, declare. The Board may discriminate among Participants and among Awards granted
to a Participant in exercising its discretion pursuant to this Section 8.7.

8.8. FORFEITURE EVENTS. Awards under the Plan shall be subject to any
compensation recoupment policy that the Trust may adopt from time to time that is applicable by
its terms to the Participant. In addition, the Board may specify in an Award Certificate that the
Participant’s rights, payments and benefits with respect to an Award shall be subject to reduction,
cancellation, forfeiture or recoupment upon the occurrence of certain specified events, in addition
to any otherwise applicable vesting conditions of an Award. Such events may include, but shall
not be limited to, (i) violation of material Trust or Affiliate policies, (ii) subject to any restrictions
under applicable state or other laws, breach of noncompetition, confidentiality or other restrictive
covenants that may apply to the Participant, or (iii) other conduct by the Participant that is
detrimental to the business or reputation of the Trust or any Affiliate.

ARTICLE 9
CHANGES IN CAPITAL STRUCTURE

9.1. MANDATORY ADJUSTMENTS. In the event of a nonreciprocal transaction
between the Trust and its shareholders that causes the per-share value of the Class E Common
Shares to change (including, without limitation, any share dividend, share split, spin-off, rights
offering, or large nonrecurring cash dividend), the Board shall make such adjustments to the Plan
and Awards as it deems necessary, in its sole discretion, to prevent dilution or enlargement of
rights immediately resulting from such transaction. Action by the Board may include: (i)
adjustment of the number and kind of shares that may be delivered under the Plan; (ii) adjustment
of the number and kind of shares subject to outstanding Awards; and (iii) any other adjustments
that the Board determines to be equitable. Without limiting the foregoing, in the event of a
subdivision of the outstanding Class E Common Shares (share-split), a declaration of a dividend
payable in Class E Common Shares, or a combination or consolidation of the outstanding Class E
Common Shares into a lesser number of Class E Common Shares, the authorization limit under
Section 5.1 shall automatically be adjusted proportionately, and the Class E Common Shares then
subject to each Award shall automatically, without the necessity for any additional action by the
Board, be adjusted proportionately without any change in the aggregate purchase price therefor.

9.2. DISCRETIONARY ADJUSTMENTS. Upon the occurrence or in anticipation of
any corporate event or transaction involving the Trust (including, without limitation, any merger,
reorganization, recapitalization, combination or exchange of shares, or any transaction described
in Section 9.1), the Board may, in its sole discretion, provide (i) that Awards will be settled in cash
rather than Class E Common Shares, (ii) that Awards will become immediately vested and non-
forfeitable, (ii1) that Awards will be assumed by another party to a transaction or otherwise be
equitably converted or substituted in connection with such transaction or (iv) any combination of
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the foregoing. The Board’s determination need not be uniform and may be different for different
Participants whether or not such Participants are similarly situated.

9.3. GENERAL. Any discretionary adjustments made pursuant to this Article 9 shall
be subject to the provisions of Section 10.2.

ARTICLE 10
AMENDMENT, MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION

10.1. AMENDMENT, MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION. The Board may, at
any time and from time to time, amend, modify or terminate the Plan without shareholder approval;
provided, however, that if an amendment to the Plan would, in the reasonable opinion of the Board
constitute a material change requiring shareholder approval under applicable laws, policies or
regulations, then such amendment shall be subject to shareholder approval; and provided, further,
that the Board may condition any other amendment or modification on the approval of
shareholders of the Trust for any reason.

10.2. AWARDS PREVIOUSLY GRANTED. At any time and from time to time, the
Board may amend, modify or terminate any outstanding Award without approval of the
Participant; provided, however:

(a) Subject to the terms of the applicable Award Certificate, such amendment,
modification or termination shall not, without the Participant’s consent, reduce or diminish
the value of such Award determined as if the Award had been exercised, vested, cashed in
or otherwise settled on the date of such amendment or termination;

(b) No termination, amendment, or modification of the Plan shall adversely affect
any Award previously granted under the Plan, without the written consent of the Participant
affected thereby. An outstanding Award shall not be deemed to be “adversely affected”
by a Plan amendment if such amendment would not reduce or diminish the value of such
Award determined as if the Award had been exercised, vested, cashed in or otherwise
settled on the date of such amendment.

10.3. COMPLIANCE AMENDMENTS. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or in any
Award Certificate to the contrary, the Board may amend the Plan or an Award Certificate, to take
effect retroactively or otherwise, as deemed necessary or advisable for the purpose of conforming
the Plan or Award Certificate to any present or future law relating to plans of this or similar nature
(including, but not limited to, Section 409A of the Code), and to the administrative regulations and
rulings promulgated thereunder. By accepting an Award under this Plan, a Participant agrees to
any amendment made pursuant to this Section 10.3 to any Award granted under the Plan without
further consideration or action.

ARTICLE 11
GENERAL PROVISIONS

11.1. RIGHTS OF PARTICIPANTS.
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(a) No Participant or any Independent Trustee shall have any claim to be granted
any Award under the Plan. Neither the Trust, its Affiliates nor the Board is obligated to
treat Participants or Independent Trustees uniformly, and determinations made under the
Plan may be made by the Board selectively among Independent Trustees who receive, or
are eligible to receive, Awards (whether or not such Independent Trustees are similarly
situated).

(b) Nothing in the Plan, any Award Certificate or any other document or
statement made with respect to the Plan, shall interfere with or limit in any way the right
of the Trust or any Affiliate to terminate any Participant’s service as a trustee, at any time,
nor confer upon any Participant any right to continue as a trustee of the Trust or any
Affiliate, whether for the duration of a Participant’s Award or otherwise.

(¢) Neither an Award nor any benefits arising under this Plan shall constitute an
employment contract with the Trust or any Affiliate and, accordingly, subject to Article
10, this Plan and the benefits hereunder may be terminated at any time in the sole and
exclusive discretion of the Board without giving rise to any liability on the part of the Trust
or an of its Affiliates.

(d) No Award gives a Participant any of the rights of a shareholder of the Trust
unless and until Class E Common Shares are in fact issued to such person in connection
with such Award.

11.2.  SPECIAL PROVISIONS RELATED TO SECTION 409A OF THE CODE.

(a) General. Itisintended that the payments and benefits provided under the Plan
and any Award shall either be exempt from the application of, or comply with, the
requirements of Section 409A of the Code. The Plan and all Award Certificates shall be
construed in a manner that effects such intent. Nevertheless, the tax treatment of the
benefits provided under the Plan or any Award is not warranted or guaranteed. Neither the
Trust, its Affiliates nor their respective trustees, directors, officers or advisers (other than
in his or her capacity as a Participant) shall be held liable for any taxes, interest, penalties
or other monetary amounts owed by any Participant or other taxpayer as a result of the Plan
or any Award.

(b) Definitional Restrictions. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or in any
Award Certificate to the contrary, to the extent that any amount or benefit that would
constitute non-exempt “deferred compensation” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code
(“Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation”) would otherwise be payable or distributable, or
a different form of payment (e.g., lump sum or installment) of such Non-Exempt Deferred
Compensation would be effected, under the Plan or any Award Certificate by reason of the
occurrence of a Change in Control, or the Participant’s Disability or separation from
service, such Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation will not be payable or distributable to
the Participant, and/or such different form of payment will not be effected, by reason of
such circumstance unless the circumstances giving rise to such Change in Control,
Disability or separation from service meet any description or definition of “change in
control event”, “disability” or “separation from service”, as the case may be, in Section
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409A of the Code and applicable regulations (without giving effect to any elective
provisions that may be available under such definition). This provision does not affect the
dollar amount or prohibit the vesting of any Award upon a Change in Control, Disability
or separation from service, however defined. If this provision prevents the payment or
distribution of any amount or benefit, or the application of a different form of payment of
any amount or benefit, such payment or distribution shall be made at the time and in the
form that would have applied absent the non-409A-conforming event.

11.3. UNFUNDED STATUS OF AWARDS. The Plan is intended to be an “unfunded”
plan for incentive and deferred compensation. With respect to any payments not yet made to a
Participant pursuant to an Award, nothing contained in the Plan or any Award Certificate shall
give the Participant any rights that are greater than those of a general creditor of the Trust or any
Affiliate. In its sole discretion, the Board may authorize the creation of grantor trusts or other
arrangements to meet the obligations created under the Plan to deliver Class E Common Shares or

payments in lieu of Class E Common Shares or with respect to Awards. This Plan is not intended
to be subject to ERISA.

11.4. EXPENSES. The expenses of administering the Plan shall be borne by the Trust
and its Affiliates.

11.5. TITLES AND HEADINGS. The titles and headings of the Sections in the Plan are
for convenience of reference only, and in the event of any conflict, the text of the Plan, rather than
such titles or headings, shall control.

11.6. GENDER AND NUMBER. Except where otherwise indicated by the context, any
masculine term used herein also shall include the feminine; the plural shall include the singular
and the singular shall include the plural.

11.7. FRACTIONAL SHARES. No fractional Class E Common Shares shall be issued
and the Board shall determine, in its discretion, whether cash shall be given in lieu of fractional
Class E Common Shares or whether such fractional Class E Common Shares shall be eliminated
by rounding up or down.

11.8. GOVERNMENT AND OTHER REGULATIONS.

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, no Participant who acquires
Class E Common Shares pursuant to the Plan may, during any period of time that such
Participant is an affiliate of the Trust (within the meaning of the rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission under the 1933 Act), sell such Class E Common
Shares, unless such offer and sale is made (i) pursuant to an effective registration statement
under the 1933 Act, which is current and includes the Class E Common Shares to be sold,
or (i) pursuant to an appropriate exemption from the registration requirement of the 1933
Act, such as that set forth in Rule 144 promulgated under the 1933 Act.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, if at any time the Board shall
determine that the registration, listing or qualification of the Class E Common Shares
covered by an Award upon any securities exchange or under any foreign, federal, state or
local law or practice, or the consent or approval of any governmental regulatory body, is
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necessary or desirable as a condition of, or in connection with, the granting of such Award
or the purchase or receipt of Class E Common Shares thereunder, no Class E Common
Shares may be purchased, delivered or received pursuant to such Award unless and until
such registration, listing, qualification, consent or approval shall have been effected or
obtained free of any condition not acceptable to the Board. Any Participant receiving or
purchasing Class E Common Shares pursuant to an Award shall make such representations
and agreements and furnish such information as the Board may request to assure
compliance with the foregoing or any other applicable legal requirements. The Trust shall
not be required to issue or deliver any certificate or certificates for Class E Common Shares
under the Plan prior to the Board’s determination that all related requirements have been
fulfilled. The Trust shall in no event be obligated to register any securities pursuant to the
1933 Act or applicable state or foreign law or to take any other action in order to cause the
issuance and delivery of such certificates to comply with any such law, regulation or
requirement.

11.9. GOVERNING LAW. To the extent not governed by federal law, the Plan and all
Award Certificates shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of
Maryland.

11.10. SEVERABILITY. In the event that any provision of this Plan is found to be invalid
or otherwise unenforceable under any applicable law, such invalidity or unenforceability will not
be construed as rendering any other provisions contained herein as invalid or unenforceable, and
all such other provisions will be given full force and effect to the same extent as though the invalid
or unenforceable provision was not contained herein.

11.11. NO LIMITATIONS ON RIGHTS OF TRUST. The grant of any Award shall not
in any way affect the right or power of the Trust to make adjustments, reclassification or changes
in its capital or business structure or to merge, consolidate, dissolve, liquidate, sell or transfer all
or any part of its business or assets. The Plan shall not restrict the authority of the Trust, for proper
corporate purposes, to draft or assume awards, other than under the Plan, to or with respect to any
person. If the Board so directs, the Trust may issue or transfer Class E Common Shares to an
Affiliate, for such lawful consideration as the Board may specify, upon the condition or
understanding that the Affiliate will transfer such Class E Common Shares to a Participant in
accordance with the terms of an Award granted to such Participant and specified by the Board
pursuant to the provisions of the Plan.

11.12. CLAWBACK/REPAYMENT. All Awards shall be subject to reduction,
cancellation, forfeiture or recoupment to the extent necessary to comply with (i) any clawback,
forfeiture or other similar policy adopted by the Board and as in effect from time to time; and (ii)
applicable law. Further, to the extent that the Participant receives any amount in excess of the
amount that the Participant should otherwise have received under the terms of the Award for any
reason (including, without limitation, by reason of a financial restatement, mistake in calculations
or other administrative error), the Participant shall be required to repay any such excess amount to
the Trust.
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The foregoing is hereby acknowledged as being the Starwood Credit Real Estate Income
Trust Independent Trustee Restricted Share Plan as adopted by the Board on November 10, 2023.

STARWOOD CREDIT REAL ESTATE INCOME
TRUST

By: /s/ Dennis G. Schuh
Name: Dennis G. Schuh
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President

Signature Page to Independent Trustee Restricted Common Share Plan



Exhibit 10.6

FORM OF RESTRICTED COMMON SHARE AWARD CERTIFICATE

Non-transferable
GRANT TO

(the “Participant™)
by Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust (the “Trust”) of

its Class E common shares of beneficial interest, par value $0.01 per share (the “Class E
Common Shares”).

The Class E Common Shares are granted pursuant to and subject to the provisions of the Starwood
Credit Real Estate Income Trust Independent Trustee Restricted Common Share Plan (the “Plan”)
and to the terms and conditions set forth on the following pages (the “Terms and Conditions™). By
accepting the Class E Common Shares, the Participant shall be deemed to have agreed to the Terms
and Conditions set forth in this Award Certificate and the Plan. Capitalized terms used herein and
not otherwise defined shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Plan.

Unless vesting is accelerated in accordance with Section 2 of the Terms and Conditions, the Class
E Common Shares shall vest (become non-forfeitable) in accordance with the following schedule,
subject to the Participant’s Continuous Service on each vesting date.

Vesting Date Percent of Shares Vesting




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust, acting by and through its
duly authorized officers, has caused this Award Certificate to be duly executed.

STARWOOD CREDIT REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST

By:
Its:

Grant Date:



TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. Restrictions. The Class E Common Shares are subject to each of the following restrictions.
“Restricted Common Shares” mean those Class E Common Shares that are subject to the
restrictions imposed hereunder which restrictions have not then expired or terminated. Restricted
Common Shares may not be sold, transferred, exchanged, assigned, pledged, hypothecated or
otherwise encumbered to or in favor of any party, or be subjected to any lien, obligation or liability
of the Participant to any other party. If the Participant’s Continuous Service with the Trust
terminates for any reason other than as set forth in subsection (b) of Section 2 hereof, then the
Participant shall forfeit all of the Participant’s right, title and interest in and to any outstanding and
unvested Restricted Common Shares held by the Participant as of the date of termination, and such
outstanding and unvested Restricted Common Shares shall revert to the Trust immediately
following the event of forfeiture. The restrictions imposed under this Section 1 shall apply to all
Class E Common Shares or other securities issued with respect to Restricted Common Shares
hereunder in connection with any merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, share
dividend or other change in corporate structure affecting the Class E Common Shares.

2. Expiration and Termination of Restrictions. The restrictions imposed under Section 1 will
expire on the earliest to occur of the following (the period prior to such expiration being referred
to herein as the “Restricted Period”):

(a) as to the number of the Restricted Common Shares specified on the cover page hereof, on
the respective vesting dates specified on such cover page, subject to the Participant’s
Continuous Service on each vesting date;

(b) as to all of the outstanding and unvested Restricted Common Shares, upon termination of
the Participant’s Continuous Service by the Trust by reason of the Participant’s death or
Disability; or

(c) as to all of the outstanding and unvested Restricted Common Shares, upon the occurrence
of a Change in Control.

3. Delivery of Common Shares. The Common Shares will be registered in the name of the
Participant as of the Grant Date and may be held by the Trust during the Restricted Period in
certificated or uncertificated form. Any certificate for the Restricted Common Shares issued
during the Restricted Period shall bear a legend in substantially the following form (in addition to
any legend required under applicable state securities laws): “This certificate and the common
shares of beneficial interest represented hereby are subject to the terms and conditions (including
forfeiture and restrictions against transfer) contained in a Restricted Common Share Award
Certificate between the registered owner of the shares represented hereby and Starwood Credit
Real Estate Income Trust. Release from such terms and conditions shall be made only in
accordance with the provisions of such Certificate, copies of which are on file in the offices of
Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust.” Certificates for the Class E Common Shares, without
the first above legend, shall be delivered to the Participant or the Participant’s designee upon
request of the Participant after the expiration of the Restricted Period, but delivery may be




postponed for such period as may be required for the Trust with reasonable diligence to comply,
if deemed advisable by the Trust, with registration requirements under the 1933 Act, listing
requirements under the rules of any securities exchange, and requirements under any other law or
regulation applicable to the issuance or transfer of the Shares.

4. Voting Rights. The Participant, as beneficial owner of the Class E Common Shares, shall
have full voting rights with respect to the Class E Common Shares during and after the Restricted
Period.

5. Dividend Rights. The Participant shall accrue cash and non-cash dividends, if any, paid with
respect to the Class E Common Shares, but the payment of such dividends shall be deferred and
held (without interest) by the Trust for the account of the Participant until the expiration of the
Restricted Period. During the Restricted Period, such dividends shall be subject to the same
vesting and forfeiture provisions imposed under Section 2 as the Restricted Common Shares to
which they relate. Accrued dividends deferred and held pursuant to the foregoing provision shall
be paid by the Trust to the Participant promptly upon the expiration of the Restricted Period (and
in any event within thirty (30) days of the date of such expiration).

6. No Right of Continued Service. Nothing in this Award Certificate shall interfere with or limit
in any way the right of the Trust to terminate the Participant’s service at any time, nor confer upon
the Participant any right to continue providing services to the Trust.

7. Payment of Taxes. Upon issuance of the Common Shares hereunder, the Participant may
make an election to be taxed upon the grant of such award under Section 83(b) of the Code (an
“83(b) Election™). To effect such 83(b) Election, the Participant must file an appropriate election
with Internal Revenue Service within 30 days after the Grant Date and otherwise in accordance
with applicable Treasury Regulations.

8. Plan Controls. The terms contained in the Plan are incorporated into and made a part of this
Award Certificate and this Award Certificate shall be governed by and construed in accordance
with the Plan. In the event of any actual or alleged conflict between the provisions of the Plan and
the provisions of this Award Certificate, the provisions of the Plan shall be controlling and
determinative.

9. Successors. This Award Certificate shall be binding upon any successor of the Trust, in
accordance with the terms of this Award Certificate and the Plan.

10. Severability. If any one or more of the provisions contained in this Award Certificate are
invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the other provisions of this Award Certificate will be construed
and enforced as if the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been included.

11. Notice. Notices hereunder must be in writing, delivered personally or sent by registered or
certified U.S. mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. Notices to the Trust must be
addressed to Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust, 2340 Collins Avenue, Miami Beach, FL
33139 Attn: Secretary, or any other address designated by the Trust in a written notice to the
Participant. Notices to the Participant will be directed to the address of the Participant then
currently on file with the Trust, or at any other address given by the Participant in a written notice
to the Trust.



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 17 CFR 240.13a-14
PROMULGATED UNDER
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Dennis G. Schuh, certify that:

1. Ihave reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 2023;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) [Intentionally omitted];

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 14, 2023
/s/ Dennis G. Schuh

Dennis G. Schuh

Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 17 CFR 240.13a-14
PROMULGATED UNDER
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Marc A. Fox, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Starwood Credit Real Estate Income Trust for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 2023;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) [Intentionally omitted];

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 14, 2023

/s/ Marc A. Fox

Marc A. Fox

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Starwood Credit Real Estate Income
Trust (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2023, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Dennis G. Schuh,
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Dennis G. Schuh

Dennis G. Schuh

Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

November 14, 2023

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is
not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Starwood Credit Real Estate Income
Trust (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2023 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Marc A. Fox, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Marc A. Fox

Marc A. Fox

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

November 14, 2023

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is
not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.



